Eton Propartias Phllppines, ino.

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The management of Eton Properties Philippines, Inc. and its subsidiaries is responsible for the
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements including the schedules
attached therein, for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, in accerdance with the prescribed
financial reporting framework indicated therein, and for such internal control as management determines
is necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management Is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to
continue as a going concem, disclosing, as applicable matters related to going concem and using the
going concern basls of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Gompany or to
cease operations, or has no realistic afternative but to do s,

The Board of Directars is responsible for overseelng the Company’s financial reporing process.

The Board of Directors reviews and approves the consclidated financial statements including the
schedules attached therein, and submits the same to the stockholders.

3GV & Co., the independent auditer appointed by the stockholders, has audited the consolidated financial
statemments of the Company and its subsidiaries in accordance with Philippine Stanctards on Auditing, and
In its report to the stockholders, has expressed its opinion on the fairmess of presentation upen
completion of such audit.
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Republic of the Philippines)

)S.S.

Personally appeared before me the following persons known to me and known to be the same persons
who executed the foregeing and they acknowledged to me that the same is their free and voluntary act
and deed, in the capacities ir which they appear.

The partles presented iheir respective competent evidence of [dentity as follows:

Name TIN/SSSPasspont/Driver's License No. Date & Place of Issue
Lucio C. Tan X0 52 nausqu FOl-4I-392 July 17, 2018/Quezon City
Ramon S. Pascual 1y- 14

Wilfredo 2. Pineda 035991498 6

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto sel my hand and affixed my notarial seal on this
FEB 17 dmgof  ,zozo At MAKATICITY

Coc. No. ;2[5—

Page No. L[ IZ
e MNotary Public for Makati City
[1 /‘] foll of A1torkeys Mo, 35358
Book Na.__ " | FTR No. 8117121/1-2-2020

IBP Lifetime h@n er M. 00104
Series of 2020 G6/F 6754 Avala Abenhe, Maikati City

MCLE l’_omprianoe Mo, WI-D0Y T668£01-31-2019
Commissian No. k-1 14 untit 31 Decemnber 202
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Form Type Departmenl reguiring the repart Secordary License Type, Il Applicable
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_ COMPANY INFORMATION i |
- Company's Ermail Addrass Company's Telaphone Numbe - Molyile Mumber
! www,eton.com.ph ‘ {632) 8548-4000 N/Aa ]

: Mo. of Srackhalters

Annual Meeting {Month / Day)

Fiscal Year {Menth f Day]

1,667 ‘ April 15 | December 31
;‘ CONTACT PERSON INFORMATION |
The designaled contact persen MUST ba an Officer of Iha Corparailon
Mame of Contael Person Emall Address Teleohone Number/s Mabile Nurmber
Rita C. Reboso || ritareboss@eton.com.ph (632)8548-4000) |  NA |

CONTACT PERSON’s ADDRESS

8" Floor, Allied Bank Center, 6754 Ayala Avenue, Makati City

NOTE 1: Incase of deatd, sesigretion or cessation of affice of the officer designated a3 contadt parson, such incidsnt ehal be reported fo the Commission withi
ity {33] catendar days from ihe occurrence iereol with information and camplle contect defas of the new cantact person designaled.

2. Al Boses mus! be propery and compislely Mizd-up. Fafure fo db 50 shaf cause the delay In updating the comareton’s records with the Comimission
arior mon-receipl of Molice of Defiziences, Further, non-receipl of Motice of Defigienties shall not excuse (e corporalion from kabidy for ite Geficiencies.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT N e
LA St YSION
| b
paTe; FEB 26 2020 1’I’SIE
The Stockholders and the Board of Directors l l |

Eton Properiies Philippines, Inc.
8/F Allied Bank Center, 6754 Ayala Avenue
Makat; City, Metro Manila, Philippines

Opinion

We have andited the consolidated financial statements of Eton Properties Philippines, Inc. and its
subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at
December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the consclidated statements of income, consolidated statements of
comprehensive income, consolidated stafements of changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including 2 summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial pesition of the Group as at December 31, 2009 and 2018, and its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for each of the three years in the pertod ended
December 3, 2019 in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards {(PFRSs).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor s Responsibilities for the Audit
af the Consolidated Financiol Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics)
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Other Tnformatign

Management is responsible for the other information, The other information comprises the

SEC Form 17-A for the year ended December 31, 2019 but does not include the consolidated financial
stztements and our auditor’s report thercon, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report,
and the SEC Form 20-1S (Definitive Information Statement} and Annnal Report for the year ended
December 31, 2019, which are expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other infortnation identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial staiements or our knowledge

abtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
GERNRRUMGiTE
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated

Financial Statements /
|L.

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with PFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consclidated {inancial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to frand or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matiers related to geing concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
Aunditor's Responsibilitles for the Audit of che Consolidated Financtal Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to firaud or error, and to issue an avditor's report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantes that an
audit conducted in accordance with PSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Migstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material i, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with PSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism thronghout the audit. We also:

» Identify and assess the risks of material misstatetnent of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulfing from ervor,
as fraud may iovolve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.

s Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the andit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectivenass of the Group’s internal control.

s FEvaluate the appropriaieness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

+ Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concemn basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty cxists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that 2 material nncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our epinicn. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our anditor’s rcport. However, future evenis or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.
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» Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and comntent of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achicves fair presentation.

»  (btain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business aclivities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financizl statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the andit. We remain solely
responsible for cur andit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with govemnance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO.
BURESTTT Ty T
t L.n';'-.:: 0o ) . IJI-ZNU'E
E oot “igg |
. 4 2& . EARGE i ision |
. ( :
ﬂanin C. Gua \DATE: FEB 26 2020 7819
Partner | !_ i
CPA Certificate No. 88494 -5 Ty —
SEC Accreditation No. #325-AR-4 (Group A), =T ' o

August 23, 2018, valid until Auvgust 22, 2021 T ‘
Tax Identification No. 152-884-272
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001998-52-2018,
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ETON PROPERTIES PHILIPPINES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES . £rp o 500 _1_1#‘5
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION ~ ;" =~
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X .ok : 2018 2018
\ O\ FES 2B '{:?ﬂlj"{m (As Restated,  {As Restated,
= "+ Note 2) Note 2)

—

ASSETS LE:_:

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalcnts (Note 5) B1323,875922 R2.642,543.070 $1,530,515,081
Trade and other recsivables {Note 6) 973,780,710 1,396,772,534 1,322.431,736
Real estate inventories (Note 7) 4,362,518,951 4,958,558,533 6,239,781,629
Cther current assets (Note §) . 1,619,726,781 1,588,874,489 1,500,155,268
Total Current Assets 9,229,902,364  10,586,748,626  10,582,8%1,714
Noncurrent Assets

Receivables - nst of current portion (Note 6) 674,304,192 294.717,675 766,796,299
Investment properlies (Mate 9) 20,273,173,539 18,%10,921,87¢  15,508,388,596
Property and equipment (Note 10} 890,587,307 954,837,653 986,614,976
Right-of-use assets (Note 27) 273,259,712 - =
Defetred income tax assets - net (Note 24) 9,603,650 33,590,435 49,059,703
Other noneurrent assets (Note 11) 476,862 486 541,712,684 F08,512.843
Total Noncurrent Assets 22,597,790.886  20,735,786,326  19,019,372,417
TDT{LL :@SSETS _ $31,427,693,250 P31,322.534,952 B29.602,264,131

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables (Note 12} B3,531,062,295 B3.436,252,119 $3.314,992,163
Customers' deposits (Note 13) 978,617,758 1,115,106,227 1,081,221,045
Current portion of’
Payables to landowners (Notes 15 and 17) 1,828,949,047 499,926,349 32,692,924
Loans payable (Notes 14 and 17) 1,199,758,184 737,816,725 384,080,504
Lease liabilities (Nate 27) 16,049,500 - -
Deposits and other current liahilities
(Note 16) 188,945,677 312,487,297 154,618,346
Total Current Liabilities 7,743,432,461  6.101,588,717  4,987,604,982

Noncurrent Liabilities
Loans payable - net of current portion (Notes 14

and 17) 5,005,941,133 6453148621  5,696,065.670
Payables to landowners - net of current portion

(Notes 15 and 17) - 1,384,949.047  1,884,875,396
L.ease liabilities - net of eurrent portion

(Note 27) 482,580,982 = =
Deferred income tax liabilities - net (Note 24) 63,180,440 = 5,145.211
Other noncurrent lishilities (Notes 16 and 23) 637,160,431 386,68%,535 562,279,316
Total Noncurrent Liabilities 6,24%,862,986 8,224 787,203 8,148,365,593
Total Liahilities o 13,992,295,447  14,326,375,920 13,135,970,575
(Forward)
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December 31 Tanpary i
2018 2018
{As Restated, {As Restated,
2019 Mote 2) MNote 2)
Equity (Note 25)
Capital stock - R1 par value B5,723,0017,872  BS5.723,017,872 B5,723,017.872
Additional paid-in capital 8,206,662,618  8,206,662,618  8206,662,618
Accumulated remeasurements on retirement
benefits (Note 23) 28,401,530 89,546,558 51,413,648
Retainad eamings:
Appropriated (Note 235) 200,000,000 - -
Unappropriated 3,677,323,738  2976,939939% 2 485,207373
Treasury shares (7,955) (7,935) (7.95%)
Total Equity 17,835397,803  16,996,159,032 16,466,293,556

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

P31,827,693,250 B31,322,534,952 P29.602,264,131

See aocompanying Notes fe Cansolidated Firancjal Sigrements.
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ETON PROPERTIES PHILIPPINES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Years Ended December 31

2018 2017
{As Restated, (As Restated,
2019 MNote 2} Note 2)
REVENUE
Rental income {Notes % and 27) P1,707,833,363 $1,494,724468 P{,388,010,270
Real estate sales 1,424,597,666 1,704,010,551 845,052,331
Rooms and othet operated departments 181,862,482 03,245,771 85,112,175
3,314,293,511 3,291,980,790 2,318,174.176
COSTS AND EXPENSES
Cost of real estate sales (Note 7) 663,788,693 1,186,125 503 471,297 405
Cost ol rental income (Notes 9 and 27) . 445,889,183 373,553,433 308,447,086
Cost of rooms and other operated departments
(Note 213 129,621,689 65,760,756 50,618,202
Selling expenses (Mote 19) 111,616,454 101,162 087 45,596,858
General and administrative expenses (Note 20) 675,260,330 780,879,312 684,931 311
2,027,176,349  2,517.480.891 1,561,890,862

OTHER INCOME (CHARGES) - Net

|DATE, FEB 26 ZIJEB i J!

.

| i

L .

Finance charges (Note 18) (364,339,771) (291,172,496) (355,119,704)
Interest income {Note 18) 105,948,308 57,320,230 44,556,155
Foreign exchange gains {losses) - net (2,228,301) 4,756,636 (148,549)
Other income - net {Note 22) 252,244,330 136,021,890 85,364.084
. (8,375,43) (93,073,740) (215,348,014)
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 1,278,741,728 631,426,159 540,935,900
PROVISION FOR (BENEFIT FROM)

INCOME TAX (Note 24)
Currem 264,979,692 203,193,763 170,098,570
Deferred - 113,378,237 (13.497.170) (5,876,151)

378,357,929 189,693,593 164,222,379

NET INCOME _ PBBU.JBS.TQQ_ B491,732,566 B370,713.521
BASIC/DILUTED EARNINGS

PER SHARE (MNote 26) £0.1573 _P).085% 20.0653
See gocompanping Nojes 1o Consolidated Financial Sialements.
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ETON PROPERTIES PHILIPPINES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Years Ended Decernber 31

2018 2017
(As Restated, (As Restated,
2019 Naote 2) Note 2)
NET INCOME _ 300,383,799  P491,732,566 376,713,521
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Other comprehensive income not 1o be reclassified to
prafit or loss in subseguent periods:
Remeasurement gains (losses) on defined
benefit ohligations (Note 23) (87, 350,040) 54,475,585 17,292,383
Deferrad income tax effect 26,205,012 (16,342,675) (5,187,715

(61,145,028) 38,132,910 12,104,668

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ___P839238,771  P529,8565 476 P3B5,813,189

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,
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ETON PROPERTIES PHILIPPINES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS N

Years Ended December 31

2018 2017
{As Restated, (As Restated,
o — - 019 Note 2 Note 2)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Income before income tax BI,278,741,728 PoB1,426,150 £544),935,900
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization
{Notes 9, 10, 11 and Z2h 402,200,736 312,568,180 254,804,052
Interest expense and ather finance charges - net
of capitaiized interest (Notes 14 and 183 340,775,734 290,711,789 354,794,059
Interest income (Note 18) (105,948,368) (57,320,230} (44,556,155}
Retirement benefits cost (Notes 21 and 23) 11,315,607 17,947,399 20,415,972
Unrealized foreign exchange losses
{gains) - net 2,228,30) (4,756,636) 145,849
Gain on retirement and disposal of property and
equipment (Note 10) (362,393) (775,687 (751,467
Operating income before working capital changes 1,928,951,405 1,240,240,974 1,134, 888210
Decrease (increase} in;
Trade and other receivables 57,340,348 368,140,204 484 258,398
Reatl estate inventories 615,294,894 OBB, 757,635 {258,049,315)
Other assets (current and nan-current) 9,076,267 181,758,140 27,7717 471
Increase (decrease) in:
Trade and other payables 266,318,241 106,485,677 (50,955,518)
Payables to related parties S S {66,945,783)
Customers’ depasits (136,488,469 51,183,377 95,375,240
Deposits and ather lHabilities ) 28,263,629 23,067,127 8,004,443
Cash generatad from operations 1,798,776,1158 2,959,613.230 1,374,553,144
Interest paid (431,899,728)  (358,908,083) (419,251,267
income taxes paid, including final tax and creditable
withholding taxes (228,168,609) (310,455,852) (241,778,265)
Interast raceived 111,199.703 65,503,964 60,694,785
Net cash from operating activities 2,249,90'7.681 2,315,773,261 774,218,379
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
Additions 1o
Investment properties (Notes 9 and 32) (1,498,609,428)  (2,223,440917) (1,668,306,138)
Property and equipment {Nates 10 and 32) {192,455,772) (33,65%,748) (28,785,243)
Software (Note 11) {17,782,388) {411,260} (1,385,550)
Proceeds from dispesal of property and equipment 1,519,675 - 928,750
Net cash used in investing activities (1,534,318.413)  (2,257,511,925)  (1,697,748,203)

{Forward)
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Years Ended December 31
2018 w017
(As Restated, {As Restated,
. - 2019 _ Note 2) Note 2)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from availment of loans (Note 14) P-  PB1,500,000,000  P2.490,000,000
Payments of'
Leans payable (Notes 14 and 32) {932,300,000) (387.047.059) {470,588,235)
Payables to landawners {Notes 15, 17 and 32) (55,926,349) (52,692,524)  (1,825,273,348)
I'ayment of principal portion of lease Habilities
(Note 27) (43,801,766) (11,250,000 (12,450,000 )
Net cash from (used in) financing actvities _(1,032,028,115) 1,045,010,017 181,688,417
NET EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE
CHANGESR ON CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS ~(2,228,301) 4,756,836 (145,849}
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND
CASH FEQUIVALENTS (318,667,148  1,112,027,989 (741,987,256}
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR B 2,642,543,070  1,530,515,081 2272,502,337
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR (Notes 5§ and 12) $2,323,475,922 P2.642,543,070  P1,530,5 15,081

See accampanying Noter to Comsolidated Finaneinl Stotaments.
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ETON PROPERTIES PHILIPPINES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i Corporate Information and Authorization for Issuance of the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Corporate Information

Eton Properties Philippines, Inc. (“Eton” or “the Parent Company™} was incorporated and registered
with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) en April 2, 1971 under the name
“Balabac il Exploration & Drilling Co., Inc.” to engage in oil exploration and mineral development

projects in the Philippines. On May 12, 1988, the Philippine SEC appreved the Parent Company’s
registration and licensing es a listed eompany,

Or August 19, 1996, the Parent Company’s Articles of Incorporation (the Articles) was amended to:
(8) change the Parent Company’s primary purpose from oil exploration and mineral development 1o
that of engaging in the business of a holding company; and (b) include real estate development and o}
exploration as among ifs secondary purposes.

On February 21, 2007, the Parent Company’s Board of Directors (BOD) adopted the following
amendments: (a) change the corporate name to Ston Properties Philippines, Inc.; (b) change the primary
purpose to hold, develop, manage, administer, sell, convey, encumber, purchase, acquire, rent or
otherwise deal in and dispose of, for itseif or for othars, residential, including, but not limited to, all
kinds of housing projects, commercial, industrial, urban or other kinds of real property, improved or
unimproved; to acquire, purchase, hold, manage, develop and sell subdivision lots; to erect, construct,
alter, manage, operate, Jease buildings and tenements: and to engage or act as real estate broker;
(¢) increase the number of directors from 11 to 15; and, (d) change of financial year-end from April 30
o December 31,

The above amendments were adopted by the Parent Company’s shareholders on April 19, 2007 and
approved by the Philippine SEC on June 8, 2007,

On October 6, 2008, the Parent Campany’s BOD approved the acquisition of an approximately
12-hectare property, with an appraised value of £3,953.2 million, owned by Paramount Landequities,
Inc. (Paramount), where the Eton Centris projects are situated in exchange for the issuance of
1,600 million shares to Paramount at £2.50 per share. On October 22, 2009, the Parent Compeny and
Paramount executed a Deed of Conveyance pertaining to the asset-for-share swap (see Note 29).
As approved by the Philippine SEC in July 2011, the property was recognized by the Parent Company
at the value of B4,000 million (see Notes 7 and 25),

Prior to restructuring in 2012, Paramount and Saturn Holdings, Inc. (Saturn) had ownership interest of
55.07% and 42,39%, respectively, in Eton.

On September 17, 2012, LT Group, Inc, (LTG)'s BOD approved the assumpticn by ETG of certain
liabilities of Paramount from Step Dragon Co, Ltd, and Billinge Investments Ltd., British Virgin Island
(BVI)-based companies, and Saturn from Penick Group Ltd., also a BVI-based company, amounting
to £1,350.8 million and R521.3 million, respeetively. LTG iz a publicly listed company incorporated
and domiciled in the Philippines.

On September 25 and September 26, 2012, LTG subscribed to 1,350,819,487 common shares of
Paramount and 490,000,000 common shares of Saturn, respectively, with a par value of 81,00 per share,
which were issued to LTG from the increase in Paramount’s aod Saturn’s authorized capital stock. LTG

paid for the subscription in full by way of conversion into equity of LTG’s advances to Paramount and
Saturn amounting to #1,350.8 million and #490.0 million, respectively. On the same dates, Paramount
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and Satum filed their application for increase in authorized capital with the Philippine SEC in order to
accommodate LTG's investment.

Upen the Philippine SEC’s approval on October 10, 2012, Paramount and Saturn became subsidiaries

of LTG with 98.18% and 98.99% ownership interests, respectively, thus, giving LTG a 98.00%
effective ownership in Eton,

Onr Octeber 30, 2012, LTG entered into deeds of sale of shares with the controlling shareholders of
Paramount and Saturn for the remaining issued and cutstanding shares of the said companies. Thus,
Paramount and Saturn became wholly owned subsidiaries of LTG.

On Qetober 22, 2012, the Perent Campany’s BOD approved to voluntarily dolist the Parent Company
from the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) in light of the Parent Company’s inability to comply with
the minimum public ownership requirement of PSE within the aliowed grate pericd.  On
December 8, 2012, Paramount made a tender offer to buy back shares of the Parent Company traded in
the PSE resulting in the increase in its ownership interest from 55.07% to 56.86%, thus, increasing
LTG’s effective ownership interest in Eton to 99.30%. The delisting of the Parent Company became
effective on January 2, 2013.

On November 14, 2014, Paramount and Saturn authorized the conversion of its advancss to the Parent
Company amounting to £3,150.0 million and $2,350.0 million, respectively, into gquity
by way of subscription to 2,067,669,172 shares of stock at an issue price of B2.66 per share, On
Jatuwary 14, 20135, the Parent Company filed the application for conversion with the SEC which was
subsequently approved on January 23, 2015.

On March 2, 2015, the Parent Company’s BOD approved the increase of its authorized capital stock
from #3.0 billion divided into 5.0 billion common shares with a par value of .00 per share to
PA.0 billion divided into 8.0 billion common shares with a par value of B1.00 per share,
On September 28, 2013, Eton filed an appiication with the Philippine SEC to increase its authorized
capital stock which was subsequently approved by the Philippine SEC on September 30, 2015. Qut of
the increase of 3,0 billion common shares, 419 million commean shares and 331 millies common shares
have been subscribed by Paramount and Saturn, respectively, at 2 subseription price of 82.72 per share,

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, Eton is 55.97%- and 56.88%-owned by Patamount, respectively,
Lton's ultimate parent company is Tangen! Heldings Corporation, a company incorporated and
demiciled in the Philippines.

The Parent Company’s registered business address is 8/F Allied Bank Center, 6754 Ayala Avenue,
Makati City, Metro Maniia, Philippines.

Subsidiaries .
Below are the Parent Company’s ownership interests in jts subsidiaries:

Percentape
Subsidiaries of Ownership
Belton Communities, Ine, (BCT) 100%
Eton City, Inc. (ECI) 100%
FirstHomes, Ine, (FHI) 100%
Eton Froperties Management Corporation (EPMC) 100%

BCI was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on November §, 2007,
On February 18, 2008, the BOD of BCI approved the increase of its capital stock from 20,000 shares
to 100,000,000 shares at £1.08 par value per share and the subscription of the Parent Company for
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24,995,000 shares, which, in addition to 3,000 common shares originally subscribed, would equal 1o
25% of the authorized cepital stock.

On Gctober 13, 2014, the BOD of BCI approved the increase of its authorized capital stock from
820,000 divided into 20,000 commoen shares with a par value of B1.00 per share to F800,000,000
divided into 808,000,000 common shares with a par value of B1.00 per share. On December 23, 201 4,
BCI filed an application with the Philippine SEC to increase its authorized capital stock which was
subsequently approved by the Philippine SEC on January 7, 2015. Out of the increase in suthorized
capital stock, 199,995 million common shares have been subscribed by the Parent Company with
deposit for futurs stock subsctiption as payment for the subscribed common shares.

ECl was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on October 8, 2008. On October L5, 2014,
the BOD of ECI apptoved the increase of its authorized capital stock from 100,000,000 divided into
100,080,000 common shares with a par value of #1,00 per share to B1.000,000,000 divided into
1,000,000,000 common shares with a par value of #1.00 per share. On December 23, 2014, ECI filed
an application with the Philippine SEC to increase its autharized capital stock which was subsequently
approved by the Philippine SEC on January 6, 2015, Out of the increase in authorized capital stock,
225.0 million common shares have been subscribed by the Parent Company with depasit for future
stock subscription as payment for the subscribed common shares.

On October 15, 2010, FHI was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC as a whally owned
subsidiary of the Parent Company with a total subscribed capital stock of B1.3 million,

EPMC was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on September 29, 2011 to manage,
operate, lease, in whole or in part, zeal estate of all kinds, including buildings, house, apartments and
other structures.

On June 14, 2017, the BOD of EPMC approved the increase in its authorized capital stock from
#1,000,000 divided into 1,000,000 common shares with a par value of B1,00 per share to 820,000,000
divided into 20,000,000 common shares with a par value of B1.00 per share, The increase in authorized
capital stock was approved by the Philippine SEC on September 19, 2017. Out of the increase in
authorized capital stock, 4.75 million common shares have been subscribed by the Parent Compary.

On December 4, 2019, the Board of Directors of EPPI approved the additional investment/purchase of
15.0 million shares of EPMC, with par value of P1.00 per share, amounting to #15.0 miltion,

All subsidiaries, except for EPMC, are engaged in real estate development. A ll subsidizries’ registered
business address is 8/F Allied Bank Center, 6754 Ayala Avenug, Makati City, Metro Manila.

Autherization for [ssuance of the Consolidated Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements of Fton Properties Philippines, Inc. and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”} as at December 31, 2019 and 2018 and for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2014 were authorized for {ssuance by the BOD on February 17, 2020,

Summary of Significant Accnunting and Financial Reporting Policies

Basis of Preparation and Statement of Compliance

The consclidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis and are
presented in Philippine pese (Peso), which is the Parent Company’s functional and presentation
currency, All values are rounded to the nearest Peso, except when otherwise indicated.
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The conselidated financial statements of the Parent Cempany and jts subsidiaries {collectively referred
to as the Group) have been prepared in accordance with Philippine ¥inancial Reperting Standards
(PFRSs} as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Conncil (FRSC), which include the availment
of the relief granted by the SEC under Memorandum Circular Nos, 14-2018 and 3-2019. PFRSs include
statements named PFRSs, Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) and Philippine Interpretations of
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committes (FFRIC) issued by FRSC.

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group as at
December 31, 2019 and 2018 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2010,
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same financial reporting year as the
Parent Company, using consistent accounting policiss.

A subsidiary is an entity over which the Parent Company has control, Contrel is achicved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the

ability to affect that return through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an
investee if and only if the Group has:

* power over the investee (i.e. oxisting rights that give it the current ability ta direct the relevant
activilies of the investee);

exposure, or rights, to variable retumns from its involvement with the investee; and,
+ the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

When the Group has less than a majority of the vofing or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

¢+ the contractual arrangement with the other vole holders of the investes;
+ rights arising from other contractual arangements; and,
¢ the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumsiances indicate that
there are changes to ong or more of the three elemants of control. Consolidation of & subsidiary begins
when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses contro] of the
subsidiary, Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the
year are included or excluded in the consclidated financial statements from the date the Group gains
control or until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Consolidated firancial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions
and other events in similar circumstances.  Adjustments, where necessary, are made to ensure
consistency with the policies adapted by the Group.

inter-conipany transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between group companics
are eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated but are considered as an impairment indicator of
the assets transferred.

Changees in Accounting Policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except that the
Group changed its policy on recognition of borrowing cost on real estate inventories and has adopled
the following new pronouncements starting January 1, 2019. Urless otherwise indicated, the adoption
of these pronouncements did not have any significant impact on the Group’s financial position or

performance,
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FFRS 14, Leases

PFRS 16 supersedes PAS 17, Leases, Philippine Interpretation [FRIC 4, Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease, Philippine Interpretation SIC-15, Operating Leases-Incentives and
Philippine Interpretation SIC-27, Evaluating ihe Substance of Transactions Invoiving the Legal
Form of a Lease, The standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurem &nt, presentation

and disclasure of ieases and requires lessees o recogrize most leases aon the statement of financial
position,

Lessor accounting under PFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from foday’s accounting under
PAS 17, Lessors will continue 1o classify all feases using the same classification principle as in
PAS 17 and distinguish between two types of leases: operating and finance leases. Therefore,
PFRS 16 did not have an impact for lsases whers the Group is the {essor,

The Group adopted PFRS 16 using the modified retrospective appraach upon adoption of PFRS 16
in 2019 and elected 1o apply the standard ta contracts that were previously idemtified as leases
applying PAS 17 and Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 4, The Group therefore did net apply the
standard to contracts that were not previously identified as containing a lease applying PAS 17 and
Fhilippine Interpretation [FRIC 4.

The effects of adoption of PFRS 16 as at lanuary 1, 2019 follows:

Increase
- - o (Decrease)
Consolidated statement of financial position:
Right-ofiuse assets 298,933,369
Accriued expenses "(202,783,400)
Lease liabilities 301,716,759

The Group has lease contracts for office and parking space and land where the investment
properties are constructed/built. Refore the adoption of PFRS 16, the Group classified cach of its
leases (as lessee) at the inception date 23 either a finance lease or an operating lease,

lIpon adoption of PFRS 16, the Group applied a single recognition and measurement approach for
all leases except for short-term feases and leases of low-value assefs. Refer to succeeding
discussions for the accounting policy prior to and beginning January 1, 2019, respectively,

Leases previously accounted for as operating leayes

The Group recognized sight-of-use assets and tease liabilities for those leases previously classified
as operating leases, excepi for short~term leases and jeases of low-value assets. The right-of-use
assels were recognized based on the amount squal to the lease iiabilities, adjusted for any related
accrued lease payments previously recognized. Lease liabilities were recognized based on the
present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing rare at
the date of initial application.

The Group also applied the available practical expedignts wherein it

*  Used a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics:

* Relied on its assessment of whether leases are onerous immediately before the date of initial
appiication;

* Applied the short-term leases exemptions to leases with lease term that ends within
12 months from the date of initial application:

*  Excluded the initial direct costs from the messurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of
initial application; and
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*  Used hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contained options to extend or
terminate the lease.

Based on the above, as at Janvary 1, 2019

* Right-ofiuse assets of ¥298.93 mijllion were recognized and presented separately in the
cansolidatod statement of financial position,

* Lease liabilities of BS01.72 million were recognized.
Accrued rentals presented under “Trade and other payables” of B202,78 million related to
previous operating leases arising from strai ght-lining under PAS 17 were derecognized,

The lease liability at as January 1, 2019 can be reconciled to the operating lease commitments as
of December 31, 2015 follows:

Operating lease commitments as at December 31 , 2018 21,594,772,105
Weighted average incrementa! borrowing rate at January 1, 2019 8.48%
Lease liabilities recognized as at January 1, 2019 R498,680,482

Due fo the adoption of PFRS 16, the Group’s operating profit in 2019 improved, while its interest
expense increased. This is due to the changs in the accounting for rent expenss related to Jeages
that were clessified as operating leases under PAS 17,

The adoption of PFRS 16 did not have any impact on equity in 2019, since the Group elected to
measure the right-of-use assets at an amount equal to the Jease liability, adjusted by the amouat of
any prepaid or accrved jease payments relating to that lease recognized in the consolidated
staternent of financial position immediately before the date of initial application.

Philippine Intetpretation IFRIC 23, Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

The interpretation addresses the accounting for incorme taxes when tax treatments involve
uncertainty that affects the application of PAS 12, income Taxes. and does not apply to taxes or
levies outside the scope of PAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements relating to interest
and penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments,

The interpretation specifically addresses the following:

*  Whether an entity considers uncerigin tax treatments separately

*  The assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation
authorities

*  How an entity determines taxable profit (ax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, nnused tax
credits and fax rates

* How an entity considers changes in facts and ¢ircumstances

An entity must determine whether to consider sach uncertain tax treatment separately or together
with one or more other uncertain tax treatments, The approach that better predicts the resolution of
the uncertainty should be followed.

This interpretation is relevant 1o the Group for the uncertainties involved in the income tax
treatments made by management in conhection with the calculation of current and deferred income
taxes as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, These uncertainties are assessed by the Greup as probable
that relevant taxation authority will accept the Company’s tax treatment.
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Amendments 1o PFRS 9, Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation
Amendments to PAS |9, Employee Benefits, Pian Amendmend, Curiailment or Settlement
Amendments to PAS 28, Long-term Iterests in Associates and Joint Ventures

Arnual Improvements to PFRSs 2015-2017 Cyele

o Amendments to PFRS 3, Business Combinations, and PFRS 11, Joint Arrangements,
Previously Held Interest in a Joint Operation

o Amendments to PAS 12, fmcome Tax Consequences of Payments on Financial Instruments
Classified as Bguity

o Amendments to PAS 23, Borrowing Costs, Barrawing Costs Eligible for Capirafization

Change in Real Estale Inventories Policy

Prior ta January 1, 2019, under the Group’s policy, borrowing costs are capitalized as part of the cost
of construction of residential units for sale.

In March 2019, the Committec issued IFRIC Update summartzing the decisions reached by the
Committee in its public meetings. The March 2019 IFRIC Update includes the Committae’s Agenda
Decision on the capitalization of borrowing cost on over time transfer of constructed goods. ThaIFRIC
Agends Degision clarified whether borrowing costs may be capitalized in relation to the construction
of a residential multi-unit real estate development (building) which are sold to customers prior to start
of conswruction or completion of the development. Under the March 2010 IFRIC Update, the
Committee clarified that the related assets that might be recognized in a company’s financial statements
{i.e., installment contract receivable, contract asset, or inventory) will not qualify as a gualifying asset
and the corresponding borrowing cest may no longer be capitalized,

The Group appiied the change in accounting policy retrospectively and the 2018 comparative financial
information were restated to reflact the adjustments on the capitalized borrowing costs. As a result, the
following consolidated financial statement line items have been restated:

Az at and for the

year ended
December 31, As at January |,
_ - 2018 2018
Conanlidated Statements of Financial Position
Decrease in:
Assets
Real estate inventories (B69,390,950) (£82,367,048)
Investment properties {83,250,564) (83,250,564)
Equity
Retained earmings {152,641,514) (165,617,612}
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Decrease in cost of sales (12,974,098) -

Borrowing costs capitalized in real estats inventories that were subsequently reclassified to investment
properties are also derecognized.

The above restatements did not have significant impact on the consclidated statements of cash flows
for the years ended December 31, 2018 end 2017,

Future Changes in Aecounting Policy

Pronouncements issued but not yet effective are listed below, Unless otherwise indicated, the Group
does not expect that the future adoption of the said pronouncements will have a significant impact on
its consolidated financial statements. The Group intends 1o adopt the following pronouncements when
they become effective.
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Effective beginning on or afier January i, 2020

Amendments to PFRS 3, Definition of o Business

The amendments to PFRS 3 clarify the minimum requirements 1o be 2 business, remove the
assessment of a market participant’s abil ity to roplace missing elements, and narrow the definition
of outputs. The amendments alsc add guidance to assess whether an acquired process is substantive
and add illustrative examples, An cptional fair value concentration test 1§ introduced which permits
a simplified assessment of whether an aequired set of activities and assets is not a business.

An entity applies those amendments prospectively for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after Januvary 1, 2020, with earlier application permitted

These amendments wil! apply to future business combinations of the Group,

Amendments to PAS 1, Presentation of Financia! Statements, and PAS B, Accounting Policies,
Charges in Accounting Rstimates and Errors, Definition of Material

The amendments refine the definition of material in PAS 1 and al ign the definitions used across
PFRSs and other pronouncements. They are intended to improve the understanding of the existing
requirements rather than to significantly impact an entity's matetiality judgements.

An entsty applies those amendments prospectively for anmual reporting periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2020, with earlier application permitted.

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2021

PFRS 17, Insurance Comtracts

PFRS 17 is a comprehensive new accounting standard for insurance contracts covering recognition’
and measurement, presentation and disclosure. Once effective, PFRS 17 will roplace
PFRS 4, Insurance Cowiraets. This new standard on insurance coniracts applies to all types of
insurance confraets (i.e., life, non-life, direct insurance and re-insurance), regardless of the type of
entities that issue them, as well as to cerlain guarantees and financial instruments with discretionary
participation features. A few scope exceptions will apply.

The overall abjective of PFRS 17 is to provide an accounting mode! for insurance contracts that js
more usefil and consistent for insurers. In contrast to the requirements in PFRS 4, which are largely
based on grandfathering previous local accounting policies, PFRS 17 provides a comprehensive
mode] for insurance contracts, covering all relevant accounting aspects. The ¢core of PFRS 17 5 the
general model, supplemented by:

o A specific adaptation for contracts with direct participation features {the variable fee approach}
o A simplified approach {the premium aliocation approach) mainly for shori-duration contracts

PFRS 17 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2021, with comparative
figures required. Barly application is permitted.

Deferred effectivity

Amendments o PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, and PAS 28, Sale or Contribution
of Assels between an Invesior and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments address the conflict between PFRS 10 and PAS 28 in dealing with the lass of
control of a subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an associste or joint venture. The amendments
clarify thata full gain or loss is recognized when a transfer to an associats or joint venture involves
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a business as defined in PFRS 3. Any gain or loss resulting from the sale or contribution of assety

that does not constitute & bus iness, however, is recognized only to the extent of ynrelated investors®
interests in the associate or joint venture,

On January 13, 2016, the FRSC deferred the originel effective date of January |, 2016 of the said
amendments until the Intemational Accounting Standards Board (JASB) completes its broader
review of the research project on equity accounting that mey result in the simplification of

accounting for such transactions and of other aspects of accounting for associates and Joint
venbures.

The Group continues to assess the impact of the above new and zmended accounting standards and
Interpretations effective subsequent to 2019 on the Group’s consolidated financial statements in the
period of initial application. Additional disclosures required by these amendments will be included in
the consclidated financia! statemnents when these amendments are adopted,

Frir Value Measurement

Fair valye is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfar the Liability takes place either:

¢ in the principal market for the asset or liability, or
*  in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Group.

The fair vaive of an asset ¢r a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would
use when pricing the asset or lizbility, assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest,

A fair value measurement of a nonfinancial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient
data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimizing the use of unobservable inpurs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial
staternents are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted} market prices in active markets for identical assets or linhilities

» Level 2 - Valuation technigues for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement i3 directly or inditectly observabie

* Level 1 - Valuation techniques for which the [owest leve! mput that is significant to the fair value
mersurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
re-assessing categorization {(based an the lowest lavel of input that is significant to the fair vahe
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group fias determined classes of assets and liabitities on

the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the assets or !ability and the level of the fair value
hierarchy.

Current versus Non-Current Classification

The Group presents assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position based on
current/non-current classification, An asset is current when it is

expected to be realized or intended 10 be sold or consumed in normal operating ¢ycle;
held primarily for the purpose of trad ng;
expected to be realized within 12 months efler the reparting period; or,

cash or cash equivalbent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at
least 12 months after the reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non-current.
A liability is current when:

* it is expected o be settled in normal operating cycle;

» 1tis held primarily for the purpose of frading;

» itis due to be seftled within 12 months after the reporting pericd; ar,

* there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the Liability for at least 12 months after the
reparting period.

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-gurrent assets and liabilities,

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash includes cash on hand and in banks. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly tiquid investments
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value and are
acquired three manths or less before their maturity.

Financial Instruments
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial
liability or equity instrument of another entity.

Financial assets

Initigl vecognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair
velue through other comprehensive income (QCI), and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual
cash flow characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. The Group initially
measures & financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair vatue through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables are measured at the transaction price determined
under PFRS 15.

In order for a financial asset 1o be classified and measured at amortized cost or fair value through OCI,
it needs 10 give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPP1Y on the
principal amount outstanding, This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an
instrument leve|.
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The Group’s business mode| for managing financial assets refars ta how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows, The business model determines whether cash flows will resyls from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

Purchases or sales of financia) assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place (repular way irades} are recognized on the trade date,
i.e., the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset,

As of December 31, 2019 and 201 8. the Group’s financial assets pertain to financial assets at amortized
cost (debt instrument).

Subsequent measurement

The Group measures financial assets at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are met:

* The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to coftect contractual cash flows; and

* The contractua! terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount cutstanding.

Financial essets at amortized cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method
and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognized, modified or impaired.

The Group’s financial assets at amaortized cost includes cash in banks and cash equivelents, trade and
other receivables and refundable deposits.

Derecagnition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assels) is primarily derecognized {i.e., removed from the consolidated statement of financist position)
when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or,

the Group has transferred its Tights fo receive cash flows from the asset or has sssumed an obligation
o pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through®
arrangement; and sither (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, ot (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and tewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asgat,

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into 5 pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has zetained the risks and rewards of
ownership. When it has neither transfarred nor retained substantially a!i of the risks and rewards of the
asset, nor transterred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognize the transferred asset to the
extent of its continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognized an associated liability,
The transferred asset and the associated liability ere measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the

lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay,
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Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held
at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows
due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at ai approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will ineluds cash

flows from the sale of coilateral held or other credit eshancements that are integral to the contractual
lerms.

ECLs are recognized in two stages. For ¢redit exposures for which there has not been & significant
increase in credif risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that resulr from
default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exXposures
for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance
is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing
of the default (a lifetime ECL).

For trade and other receivables and refundable deposits, the Group applies a simplified approach in
calculating ECLs, Therefore, the Group dees not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporiing date. The Group has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit joss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors and the ecanomic environment,

For contracts receivables (CR) presented under “Trade and Other Receivables”, the Group used the
vintage analysis accounts for expected credit fosses by caleulating the cumulative loss rates of a given
CR pool. 1t derives the probability of default from the historical data of a homogenous portfolio that
share the same erigination period, The information on the number of defaults during fixed time intervals
of the accounts is utilized to crente the probability model, It allows the svaluation of the loan activity
from its crigination period until the end of the contract period.

In addition to life of loan loss data, primary drivers like macroeconomie indicators of qualitative faciors
such as forward-looking data on interest rate, unemployment rate and inflation rates were added to the
expected loss caleulation to seach a forecast supportsd by both quantitative and qualitative data points.

The probability of default is applied to the estimate of the loss arising on defawlt which is based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the Group would expect to receive,
including from the repossession of the subject real estate property, net of cash outflows. For purposes
of caloulating loss given defauit, accounts are segmented based on facility/collateral type and
completion. In calculating the recovery rates, the Group considered collections of cash and/or cash from
resale of real estate properties after foreclosure, net of direct costs of obtaining and selling the real
estate properties after the default event such as commission, association dues, refurbishment, payment
required under Maceda Law, and cost to complete (for incomplete unifs).

As these are future cash flows, these are discounted back to the time of default using the appropriate
EIR, usually being the original EIR or an approximation therzof,

For cash and cash equivalents, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification. The probabiliry of
default and loss given defaults are publicly available and are considered to be low oredit risk
fmvestments, It is the Group’s policy to measure ECLs on such instruments ch a 1 2-month basis,
However, when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance will
be based on the lifetime ECL. The Group uses the ratings from the external credit rating agencies to
determine whether the debt instrument has significantly increased in credit risk and to estimate ECLs.
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Every reporiing date, the Group evaluates whether the debt instrument is considered to have low credit
risk wsing all reasonable and suppartable information that is available withous undue cost or effort. In
making that evaluation, the Group reassesses the internal credit rating of the debt instrument. In

payments are more than 90 days past due,

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial lHabilities are classified, at initiat recognition, as financial liabilities et fair value through profit

or loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value gnd, in the case of loans and barrowings
and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs,

The Group’s financial tinbilities pertain to loans and borrowings,

Subsequent measurement
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measvred at amortized

cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recogrized in profit or loss when the fiabilities are
derecognized as well as through the EIR amortization process,

Amortized cost is calculated hy taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the EIR, The EIR amortization is included as finance charges in the
consolidated statement of income.

This category generally applies to interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

Derecogrition

A financial liability is derccognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled
or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by ancther from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the ierms of an existing liability are substantially medified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of
a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the consolidated
statement of income.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consclidated
statement of financial position if thete is a currently enforeeable legat right to offset the recognized
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realize the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, The Group assesses that it has currently enforceabls rights of offset if the right (s net
contingent on a future event, and is legally enforsesble in the normal course of busingss, event of
default, and event of insolvency or bankruptey of the Group and al! eounterparties.

Real Estate [nventoriag

Property acquired or baing constructed for saie in the ordinary course of business, rather than to be heid
for rental or cepital appreciation, is held as inventory and is measured at the lower of cost and net
realizable value (NRV).
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Cost includes:
¢ land cost;
* amounts paid to contractors for construction; and

* planning and design costs, costs of site preparation, professional fees, property transfer taxes,
construction overheads and other related costs.

NERY is the estimated salling price in the ardinary course of the business, based on market prices at the
reporting date, less ¢stimated costs of completion and the estimated cost 1o sell.

Advances to Contractors and Suppliers

Advances to contracters pertain to advance payments made to contractors at the start of each contract
packages while advances to suppliers pertain mainly to the advance payments for the purchase of
material and supplies. Advances to contractors is recouped every progress billing payment based on the
percentage of accomplishment of each contraet package. Advances to contractors related to the
sonstruction of the Group’s investment properties are classified as part of noncurrent assets while
advancss to contractors related to construction of real estate inventoties are classified as current assets.

Creditable Withhotding Taxes (CWT)

CWTs are amounts withheld from income su bject to expanded withhalding taxes, CWTs can be utilized
as payment for income taxes provided that these are properly supported by certificates of creditable fax
withheld at source, subject to the rules on Philippine income taxation. CWTs which are expecied to be
utilized as payment for income faxes within 12 months are classifisd as current assets, Otherwise, these
are classified as other noncurrent asset, CWTs are classified in the “Other current assets™ account in
the consolidated statement of financial position,

Yalue-added Tax (VAT)
Revenues, expenses, and assets are recognized net of the amount of VAT, if applicable:

When VAT from sales of goods and/or services {output VAT) exceeds VAT passed on from purchases
of goods or services (input VAT), the excess is recognized as payable in the consolidated statement of
financial position, When VAT passed on from purchases of goods or services (input VAT) exceads
VAT from sales of goods and/or services {output VAT), the excess is recognized as an asset in the
conselidated statement of financial position to the extent of the recoverabie amount,

Investment Praperties
Investment properties consist of praperties that are held to sam rentals or for ¢apital appreciation
or both, and are not aceupied by the Graup,

Investment propertics, except for land, are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment in value. Land is carried at acquisition cost less any impairment in value, The cost of an
investment property, except for land, inclndes its construction costs and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset 10 its working condition and location for its intended use, including borrowing
costs. Additions, betterments and major replacements are capitalized while minor repairs and
maintenance are charged to expense as incurred.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment in value. This includes cost of
construction and other direct costs, Construetion in progress is not depreciated until such time that the
relevant asset is completed or put into operstional nse, Construction in progress are carried at cost and
transferred to the related investment property account when the construction and related activities to
prepare the property for its intended use are complete, and the property is ready for occupation.
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Depreciation of investment properties commences once thase are available for use and is computed on
a straight-ling basis over the estimated useful lives of the investment properties as follows:

Catepory B e e _ Years
Buildings 20w 40
Condominium units 40

Land improvements 5

Deptociation of investment properties ceases at the earlier of the date that the item js classified as held
for sale {or included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale) in accordance with
PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontired Uperations, and the date the asset is

The usefu! lives and depreciation method are reviewed annuaily based on expected asset utilization fo
ensure that the period of depreciation is consistent with the expected pattem of economic benefits from
the investment properties.

Transfers to investment property ar¢ made when there is a change in use, as evidenced by ending of
owner-oceupation or commencement of an operating lease to another party. Transfers are made from
investment property when and only when there is a change in use, as evidenced by commencement of
owner-occupation or commencement of development with a view to sal!.

Transfars between investment property, owner-aceupied praperty and inventoriss do not thange the
carrying amount of the property transferred and they do not change the cost of that property for
measurement or disclosure purposes,

Investment property is derecognized when either it has been disposed of, or when the investmeat
Property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future econamic benefit is expected from its
disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognized in
the cansolidated statement of income in the year of retirement or disposal.

Property and Equipment

Froperty and equipment are carried at cost Jess accumulated depreciation and amortization and any
irpairment in value. The cost of property and equipment comprised construction cost, including
borrowing costs, or purchase price plus any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use,

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment in value. This includes cost of
construction and other ditect costs. Construction in progress is not depreciated until such time that the
relevant essets are completed and put into operational use, Construction in progress are carried at cost
and transferred te the related investment property account when the construction and related activitias
1o prepare the property for its intended use are compiete, and the property is ready for occupation,

Major repairs are capitalized as part of preperty and equipment only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow 1o the Group and the cost of the jlems can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged against current operations as
incurred,
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pep reciation and amertization of pro perty and equipment commences once the preperty and equipment
I8 available for use and is computed on 5 straight-line basis over their estimated useful frves as follows:

Category Years
Serviced apartments:
Condominium units 40
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3to 15
Transportation equipment 5
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3to 10
Leasehold improvements 5 or term: of the lease,

whichever is shorter

Depreciation and amortization ceases at the earlier of the date that the item is classified as held for saje
or included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale in accordance with

PERS 3, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Cperations, and the date the asset is
derecognized.

The assets” estimated useful lives, and depreciation and amortization method are reviewed pericdically
to ensure that these are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from the items of
property and equipment,

When a property and equipment is retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and the related accumulated
depreciation and amortization and any impairment in value are removed from consolidated staternent
of financial position and any resulting gain or loss is tecognized in consolidated statement of income,

Software

Software, which is included under “Other noneurrent assets” in the consolidated statement of financial
position, is measured at cost on ipitial recognition. Subsequently, software is carried at cost less
accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortization is calculated using
the straight-line method over the software's estimated usefu] life of five years,

Impairment of Noncurrent Monfinancial Assets

The Group assesses at cach financial Teporting date whether there is an indication that ifs noncurrent
nonfinancial assets, which include investment properties, property and equipment, and software, may
be impaired, ifany such indication exists, or when annua! impairment testing for an asset is required,
the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable emount. An asset’s recoverable amount is
caloulated as the higher of the asset’s fair value loss costs to sell and its value-in-use and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of
those assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount,
the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value-in-
use, the estimated future cash flows are diseounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that refiscts current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
Impairment losses are recognized in consolidated statement of income.

An assessment is made at each financial reporting date as fo whether there is an indication that
previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or mey have decreased, Ifsuch indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only
if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the
last impairment loss was recognized. If that is the case, the cartying amount of the asset is increased
to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amaount that would have
been dotermined, net of depreciation and amortization, had no impairment loss been recognized for the
agset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in consolidated statement of income. After such a
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reversal, the depreciation and amortization charge is adjusted in future periods 1o allocate the asset's
revised carrying amount on a systematic basis aver its remaining useful life.

Security Deposits

Security deposits, included in “Deposits and other current Habilities” and “Other noncurrent [iabilities”
in the consolidated statement of financial position, are measured mnitially at fair value and are
subsequently measured at amortized cost vsing the effective interest method.

Capital Stock and Additional Paid-In Capital

Capital stock is measured at par vahue for all shares subscribed and/or issued. Subscribed capital stock
is the portion of the authorized capital stock that has heen subscribed but not yet fully paid and thersfore
stilf unissued. The subscribed capital stock is reported net of the subscription receivable.

When the shares are subseribed or sold at a premium, the difference between the proceeds and the par
valuc is credited to “Additionat paid-in capital” account. When shares are issued for a consideration
other than cash, the proceeds are measured by the fair valus of the consideration received. In case the
shares are issued to extinguish or settle the liability of the Group, the shares shal] be measured either at
the fair value of the liability settled or fair value of the shares issued or, whichever is more reliably
determinable. Direet costs incurred related to equity issuance, such as underwriting, aceounting and
legal fees and taxes are chargeable to “Additional paid-in capital” eccount. If additional paid-in capital
is not sufficient, the exvess is charged against the retained sarnings,

Treasury Shares
Treasury shares are carcied at cost and are presented as deduction from equity, Na gain or loss is
recognized in consolidated statement of income on the purchase, sale, reissuahce or cancetiation of
treasury shares. Any difference between the catrying amount and the consideration on the refgsuance
of treasury shares is recognized as additional paid-in capital.”

Retained Earnings

Retained earnings represent the cumulative balance of periodic net income or loss, dividend
distributions, prier period adjustments, effsct of changes in accounting policy and other capital
adiustments, When the retained earnings account has a debit balance, it is called “deficit”, A deficit is
not an asset but & deduction from equity,

Appropriated retained eamnings represent that portion which has been restricted, and thersfore, not
available for dividend declaration. Unappropriated retained eamings represent that portion which can
be declared as dividends to stockholders.

Revenue and Cost Recognition

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group
znd the amount of revenug can be measured reliably. The Group assesses its revenue arrangements
against specific criteria in order to determine if it is acting as principal or agent. The Group has
concluded that it is acting as a principal in al} of its revenue arrangements,

Real estate sales

The Group denives its real catate sales from sale of residential lots and condominium units, Revenue
from the sale of these real estate projects under pre-completion stage are recognized over time during
the construction period (or percentage of completion) sitice based on the terms and conditions of its
contract with the buyers, the Group®s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.
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In measuring the progress of its performance obligation over time, the Group uses the output method.
This method measures progress based on the physical proportion of work done on the real estate project
which requires technical determination by the Group’s project engineers, Based on the menthly project

accomplishment report approved by the site project manager which integrates the surveys of
performance to date of the construction activities,

On February 14, 2018, the Philippines Interpretation Committes (PIC) issued PIC Q&A 2018-12
(PIC &A) which provides guidance on some implementation issugs of PFRS 15 affecting the real estate
industry, On October 25, 2018 and Fsbruary 8, 2019, the SEC issued SEC Memorandum Circular No. 14
Series of 2018 and SEC Memorandum Cirenlar No. 3 Series of 2019, respectively, providing relief to the

real estate industry by deferring the application of the following provisions of the above PIC Q&A fara
period of three (3) years.

a.  Exclusion of land and uninstalled materials in the determination of percentage of completion (POC)
discussed in PIC Q&A No. 2018-12-E:
Accounting for significant financing component discussed in PIC Q& A No. 2018-1 2-D; and

Accounting for Common Usage Scrvice Area (CUSA) Charges discussed in PIC Q&A No.
2018-12-11

Under the same SEC Memorandum Circular No. 3 Serfes of 2019, the adoption of PIC Q&A
No. 2018-14: PFRS 15 - Accounting for Cancellation of Reai Estate Sales was also deferred.

Effective January 1, 2021, real estate companies wili adopt PIC Q&A No. 2018-12 and PIC Q&A
No. 2018-14 and any subsequent amendments thereof retrospectively or as the Philippinz SEC will later
prescribe.

The Group availed of the deferral of adoption of the following specific provisions of PIC Q&A, Had these
provisions been adopted, it would have the following impact in the consolidated finaneial staternents:

a. The mismatch between the POC of the real estate projects and right to an amount of consideration
based on the schedule of payments explicit in the contract to sell would constitute a significant
financing compenent. Interest income would have been recognized for contract assets and interest
expense for contract liabilities using the effactive interest rate method and this would have impacted
retained eamings as at January 1, 2018 and the revenue from real estate sales in 2019 and 2018,
Currently, any significant financing component arising from the mismatch discussed above is not
considered for revenue recognition purposes.

b. The Group is acting as a principal for the provision of air-conditioning services, commen usage
services and administration and handling services. This would have resulted to the gross presentation
of the related revenue and the related cost and expenses, Currently, the related revenus is presented
net of costs and expenses. These would not resuif to any adjustment in the retained camings as of
January 1, 2018 and net income for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018,

Cost of reai estate sales

Cost of real estate sales is recognized consistent with the revenue recognition method appiied. Cost of
subdivision land and condominium units sold before the completion of the development is determined
on the basis of the acquisition cost of the land plus its fuli development costs, which include estimated
costs for future development works, as determined by the Group’s in-house technical staff,
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The cost of real estate sales recognized in the consolidated statement of income on disposal is
determined with reference to the specific costs incurred on the Property, allocated to saleable area based

on relative size and takes into account the percentage-of-completion used for revenue recognition
puUrposes.

Cosis to obrain contract

I'he incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer are recognized 2s an asset if the Group
expects to recover them. The Group has determined that commissions paid to brokers and marketing
agents on the sale of pre-completed real estate units are deferred when recovery is reasonably expected
and are charped to expense in the period in which the related revenus js recognized as earned.

Commission expense is ineluded in the “Selling expenses” account in the cansolidated statement of
income.

Costs incurred prior to obtaining contract with customet are not capitalized but are expensed as
incurred.

Rewtal income

Renta! income under non-cancellable leases of investment properties is recognized in the consolidated
statement of income oh a straight-line basis over the lease term or based on the terms of the lease
comtract or certain percentage of the gross revenus of the tenants, as appiicabie,

Charges and expenses recoverable from tenanty
Income arising from expenses recharged to tenants recorded as “Rental dues” presented as part of
“Other income™ account is recognized in the period in which the compensation becomes receivabie.

Cost of rentad inconte

Cost of rental income is recognized in relation to the fsasing activities of the Group. This inchides
depreciation of the investment properties being leased out, rental expense on the land where the
property for lease is located, real property taxes and other directly attributable costs.

Rooms and other operated depariments

Revenue from room rentals and other sneillary services are recognized at peint in time or when the
services are rendered. Revenue from other ancillary services include, among others, business center
related services and car rentals, food packages, laundry service, tzlephone service, and spe/gym
services,

Costs of services
Costs of services include expenses incurred by the Graup for the generation of revenue from roam
rentals and other ancillary servicas. Costs of services are expensed as incurred.

fnterest income
Interest income is recognized as if accrues,

Other income and other expenses
Gther income and other expenses pertain to the gain ot loss, respectively, arising from forfeiture or
cancellation of prior years’ real estate sales, and marketing fees,

Expense Recognition

Expenses are recognized when there is a decrease in future economic benefits related o a decrease in
an assel or an increase of a liability has arisen that can be measured reliahly.
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Selling and general and administrative expenses
Selling expenses are costs incurred to sell real estate inventories of the Group, which includes
commissions, advertising and promotions, among others. General and administrative pxpenses

consiitute costs of administering the business. Selling and general and administrative expenses are
expensed as incurred.

Borrowing Costs
Botrowing casts directly attributable to the acquisition or construstiot of an asset that necessarily takes
& substantial paried of time to get ready for its intended use or szle are capitalized as part of the
“Investment properties” account in the consolideted stetement of financial position, Capitalization of
borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset are in Pragress and expenditures
and borrowing costs are being incurred. Capitulization of borrewing costs ceases when substantially
all the activities necessary ta prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are compiete

Capitalized borrowing cost is based on applicable weighted average borrowing rate for those coming
from general barrowings and the actuai borrowing costs eligible for capitalization for funds horrowed
specificalty,

All other horrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement Benefits ¢ Cost

The net defined benefit liability or asset is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit
obligation at the end of the reporting period reduced by the fair value of plan assets (if any), adjusted
for any effect of lim iting a net defined benefit asset to the asset cziling, The asset ceiling is the present
value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the Plan or reductions in future
contributions te the plan.

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is actuarially determined using the
projected unit credit method.

Retirement benefits costs comprise the foitowing:

*  Service cost;

¢ net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset; and
* remeasurements of net defined benefit liability or asset.

Service costs which inelude current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on nonrouting
settlements are recognized as expense in consolidated statement of income, Past service costs are
recognized when plan amendment or curtaitment occurs, These amounts are calculated periodically by
independent qualified actuaries.

Net interest on the net definted benefit Hability or asset is the change durtng the period in the net defined
benefit liability or asset that arises from the passage of time which is determined by applying the
discount rate based on govemment bonds to the net defined benefit lizbility or asset. Net interest on
the net defined benefit liability or asser is reca gnized as expense or income in the consolidated siatement
of income.

Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses, retumn on plan assets and any change in the
sffect of the asset ceiling (excluding net interest on definsd benefit liability} are recognized immediate] ¥
in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. Remeasurements are not reclassificd
to the consolidated statement of income in subsequent periods.
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The Group’s right 1o be raimbursed of some or all of the expenditure required to settle a defined henefir

obligation is recognized as a Separate asset af fair value when and only when reimbuarsements is virmally
certain.

Income Taxes

Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount
vxpected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax iaws used 10
compute the ameunt are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the finapcial reporting date.

LDieferved income 1ax
Deferred income tax is determined at the financial teporting date using the balance sheet liability

method on all temporary differences hetwoen the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their camrying
amounts fot firancial reporting pUTpOSES,

Deferred income tax ligbilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, with certain
exceptions, Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences,

the regular corporate income tax (RCIT) [excess MCIT] and unused net operating loss carryover
{NOLCQ), to the extont that jt is probable that taxahle incoms wili be available against which the
deductible temporary di fferences, excess MCIT and unused NOLCO can be utilized before their
expiration,

The carrying amount of deferred income tax sssets is reviewed at gach financial reporting date and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable inecme will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized, Unrecognized deferred income tax assets
are reassessed at each financial reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become
probable that future taxable income will allow all op part of the deferred tax assets to be recovered,

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rate that is expected o apply to the
period when the asset is realized or the liabi] ity is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws thet have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the financial reporting date. Movements in the deferred tax assety
and lizbilities arising from changes in tax rates are charged or credited to the income far the period.

Deterred income tax assets and liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current
income tax assets against current income tax liabilities, and the deferred incame taxes relate to the same
taxable entity and the same taxation autherity.

Deferred income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is recognized in equity and not in
the consolidated statement of income. Deferred tax items are reco grized in correlation to the underlying
transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Other Comprahensive Income
Gther comprehensive incems comprises items of income and expense that are not recogrized in the
consolidated statement of income for the year in accordance with PFRSs.

Basic/Dituted Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income for the year attributable to equity holders

of the Parent Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year,
after giving retroactive effect to any stock dividends or stock splits, if any, declared during the year.
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Diluted earnings per share is cemputed in the same manner, with the nat income for the year atfributable
to equity holders of the Parent Company and the weighted average number of common sharss
oulstanding during the year, adjusted for the effect of ali dilutive potential common shares,

Foreign Currency-Denominated Transactions and Translations

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded using the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Outstanding monetary assets and monetary liabilities denominated in fereign currencies
are restated wvsing the exchange rate at the financial reporting date. Non-monetary items that are

measured al fair value in 2 foreign currency shall be translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was determined.

When & gain or Joss on a non-mounetary item is recognized in other comprehensive income, any foreign
exchange component of that gain or loss shall be recognized in the censolidated staternent of
comprehensive income. Conversely, when a gain or Joss on a non-moenetary item is recognized in the
consolidated statement of income, any exchange component of that gain or loss shal{ be recognized in
the consolidated statement of income.

Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the
arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the fulfillmetit of the arranigement is dependent on
the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangoment conveys a right to use the asset, A reassessment
{s made after inception of the lease only if ene of the following applies:

a. there is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewa! or extension of the arrangement;

b. arenewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless that term of the renewal or extension was
initially included in the lease term;

c. there is achange in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specified asset; or

d. there is a substantial change to the asset.

Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the
change in circumstances gave rise to the reassessment for scenarios (a), (c) or {d) above, and at the date
of renewal or extension period for seenaric (b).

Effective Janwuary 1, 2019

Right-of-ure assety

The Group recognizes right-ofiuse assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured af cost, less any accurmlated
arortization and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurermnent of lease ligbilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease lizbilities recopnized, initial direct costs incurred,
and lease payments made at or before the commencement date lass any lease incentivas received and
estimate of costs to be incurred by the lesses in dismantling and remaving the underlying asset,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories. Unless the
Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the
recognized right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term as follow:

Category ) Years
Land 20 to 40
Leaschold improvements 5 or term of the lease,

whichever is shorter
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Right-of-use assefs ars subject to impairment, Refer to the accounting policies in the Impairment of
Nen-financial Assets section.

Lease labilities

At the commencement date of the |ease, the Group recognizes lease liabilities measured at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the loase term, The lease payments include fixed payments
{including in substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives recsivable, variable tease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual vaiye guarantees,
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reascnably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the aption 1o terminate. The variabie lease payments that do not depend on an index

or 2 rate are recognized as expense in the petiod on which the event or condition thar triggers the
payment ocours.

In caloulating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate (IRR)
at the lease commencement date if the intorest rate implicit in the lsase is not readily determinable,
After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the acgretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the canrying amount of lease Jiahilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed
lease payments or a change in the assessment to purchase the underlying asset.

Shart-ferm ieases and leases of low-value assets

The Company apaplics the short-term lease recognition exemption 1o its short-term leases of billboard
and advertisement space (i.c., those leases that have a lease term of 12 menths or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the leases of low-valye assets
recognition exemption to leases of office equipment {ie., printer) that are considered of low value
{i.e.,, below P250,000). Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-valus assets are
recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term,

Applicable to both periods presemed

The Group as lessor

Leases where the Group does not transfer substantial ly al) the risks and benefits of the ownership of the
asset arg ¢lassified as operating leases. Fixed lease payments for non-cancellzble lease are recognized
in the consolidated statement of income on a straight-iine basis over the lease term. Any difference
between the calculated rental income and amount actuelly received or to be received is recognized as
deferred rent in the consolidated statement of financial position. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating operating leases are added 1o the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized gver
the lease term on the same basis as the rental income. Variable rent is recognized as income based on
the terms of the lease contract,

When an operating lease is terminated befors the lease period has expired, any payment required to be
made to the lessor by way of penaity is recognized undsr “Other income” account in the consolidated
statement of income.

Effective prior to January 1, 2019

The Group as lessee

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are
classified as operating leases. Fixed lease payments for non-cancellable lease are recognized as an
expense in the consolidated statement of income on & straight-line basis over the lease term while the
variable rent is recognized as un expense based on terms of the lease contract.
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Provisions and Continpencies

Provisions are recognized when the Group has 4 present obligation (tegal or constructive) as a result of
4 past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required
ta sottle the obligation and a reiiable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 1fthe effect
of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected fufure

cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and,
whare appropriate, the risks specific to the liability,

Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as
interest expense. When the Group expects a provision or loss to be reim bursed, the reimbursement is
recognized as a separate asset only when the reimbursement is virtually certain and its amount is

estimable. The expense relating to any pravision is presented in the consolidated statement of income,
net of any reimbursement.

Centingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements, They are disclosed
uniess the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic bensfits iz remote. Contingent
assets are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of
economic benefits is probable. Contingent assets are assessed continually to ensure that developments
are appropriately reflected in the consolidated financial statements. If it has become virtually certain
that an inflow of economic benefits will arise, the asset and the related income are recognized in the
consclidated finaneial statements.

Events After the Financial Repotting Date

Events after the financial reporting date that provide additional informarian about (he Group®s position
at the financial reporting date (adusting events) are reflected in the consolidated financial staternents.
Events after the financial reporting date that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the rotes to the
consolidated financial statements when material.

Significant Judgmen-ts, Acmuntingfsti;nates and Assumpﬁuns

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires the Graup to exercise Judgments,
make accounting estimates and use assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and contingent liabilities. Future events may
oceur which will cause the assumptions used in arriving at the accounting estimates 1o change. The
effects of any change in accounting estimates are reflected in the consolidated financial statements as
they become reasonably determinable.

Accounting estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience
and other facters, including expectations of future events that are believed 1o be reasonable under the
circumstances.

Judgments

In the process of applying the Group's accounting pelicies, management has made the follewing
Judgments, apart from these involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on amounts
recognized in the consolidated financial statements, Future events may occur which will canse the
assumptions used in arriving at the accounting estimates to change. The effect of any change in
accounting estimates is reflected in the consolidated financial statements as they become reasonably
determinable.
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Revenue recogrition

Revenus recognition under PFRE 15 invelves the application of significant judgment and estimation in
the: {a) identification of the contract for sale of rea) estate property that would meet the requirements
of PFRS 15; (b) assessment of the probabiliry that the entity will collect the congideration from the
buyer; (c) determination of the transaction price; (d) application of the outputfinpur method as the

measure of progress in determining real estate revenue; (e) determination of the actual Costs incurred
as cost of sales; and (f) recognition of cost to obtain a contract,

&} Existence of a coniract

The Group’s primary document for a contract with & customer is a signed contract to seil. In
addition, part of the assessment process of the Group before revenye fecognition is to assess the
probability that the Group will collect the consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for
the real estate property that will be transferred to the customer. In evaluating whether collectabil ity
of an amount of consideration is probable, an entity considers the significance of the customer’s
inftial payments in relation to the total contract price. Collectability is also assessed by considering
factors such as past history customer, age and pricing of the property. Management regularty
cvaluates the historical cancellations and back-outs if it would still Suppott its current threshold of
customers’ equity before commencing revenne recognition.

b) Revenue recognition method and measure of progress

The Group conoluded that revenue for real estate sales is to be recognized over time because (a)
the Group’s performance does not ¢reate an asset with an alternative use and; (b) the Group has an
enforceable right for performance tompleted to date, The promised property is specifically
identified in the contract and the contractual restriction on the Group's ability to direct the promised
property for another use is substantive, This is because the property premised to the customer is
net interchangeable with other properties without breaching the contract and without incuering
significant costs that otherwise would not have been incumed in relation to that contract, In addition,
under the current logal framework, the customer is comractually obliged to make payments to the
developer up to the performance completed to date,

The Group has determined that the output methed used in measuring the progress of the
performance obligation faithfully dopicts the Group's performance in transterring control of real
¢state development to the customer.

¢/ ldentifying performance obiigation

The Group has various contracts to sell cavering residential [ots and condeminium units, The Group
concluded that there is one performance obligation in each of these contracts because:
{1} for residential Iots, the developer infegrates the plots it sells with the associated infrastructure to
be able to fransfer the serviced land promised in the comtract; (ii) for the contract covering house
or eondominium units, the developer has the obligation to deliver the house or coendominium unit
duly constructed on a specific lot and fully integrated into the serviced land in accordanca with the
approved plan. Included also in this performance obligation is the Group’s service to transfer the
title of the real estate unit to the customer.

Provision for expected credit losses of cash and cash eguivalents, trade and other receivables and
refundable deposits

The Group uses a provision matrix to caloulate ECLs for cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
receivables and refundable deposits. The provision rates are based on days past due for Zroupings of
various customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e,, by gecgraphy, product type, customer

type and rating, property collaterals and coverage by letters of credit and other forms of credit
insurance).
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The assessment of the correlation between historical abserved default rates, forecast economic
coniditions (i.e., gross domestic product and inflation rate} end ECLs js a significant estimate. The
emount of ECLs is sensitive 1o changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The
Group's historical credit loss experience and forecast of cconomic conditions may also not be
representative of the customer’s actyal default in the future. The information aboyt the ECLs on the
Group’s trade and other receivables and refundable deposits is disclosed in Note 28,

Operating lease commitments - the Croup as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases of jts Investment properties. The Group has
determined that it retains all significant risks and rewards of awnership of these properties whick are
leased out on operating leases. Rental income recognized by the Group amounted to P1,707.8 million,
21,494.7 million and ®1,383.0 million in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Notes 9 and am,

Determination of fease term of comtracts with remewai opfions - Group as a lessee
- effective January 1, 2019

The Group has several lease contracts that inelude extension and termination options. The Group
applies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certzin whether or not to exercise the option
to renew or terminate the lease, That s, it considers all r¢levant factors that create an economic incentive
for it to exercise either the renewal or termination. A fier the commencement date, the Group reassesses
the lease term if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within jts control and
affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to remew or to terminate
(e.g., construction of significant leasehold).

The Group included the renewal period as peit of the icase term for leases of plant and machinery with
shorter non-cancellable period {i.e,, three t five years). The Group typically exercises its option to
renew for these leases because there will be a significant negative effect on production if 2 replacement
asset is not readily available. The renewal periods for leases of plant and machinery with longer non-
cancellable pericds (ie., 10 to 15 years) are not included as part of the lease term ag these are not
reasonably certain to be exercised. In addition. the renewal options for leases of moter vehicles are not
inciuded as part of the lease ferm because the Group typically leases motor vehicles for not more than
five years and, hence, is not exercising any renewal options. Furthermore, the periods covered by
termination opticns are included as part of the lease tarm only when they are reaschably certain not to
be exercised.

Refer to Note 27 for informetion on potential future rental payments relating to perinds following the
exercise date of extension and fermination options that are not included in the lease term.

Operating lease commitments — the Uroup as lessee — prior to January i, 20]9

Curtently, the Group has land lsase agreements with several non-related parties and office lease
agreement with 2 related party. The Group has determined that all significant risks and rewards of
ownership of these praperties are retained by the lessors. Thus, the Group considers these lease
agreements as operating leases. Rental expense included in “Outside services™ under “Genaral and
administrative expenses™ in the consolidated statements of income amounted to 827.4 millien in 2018
and $25.9 million in 2017 (see Notes 20 and 27). Additional rental expense amountting to
F41.9 miilion and #39.4 miltion recognized in 2018 and 2017, respectively, included under “Cost of
rental income” acconnt in the consolidated statements of income, relates o the lease ofa parcel of land
where ane of the Parent Company’s projects is lpcatad,

in determining whether a lease contract is cancellable or not, either acting as a lessor or 2 lesses, the
Group considered, among others, the prebability of the cancellation and the significance of the penalty,
including economic consequences, (o the Group.
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Classification of properties

The Group determines whether a property is classified as investment Property or real estate inventory
as foliows:

* Investment property comprises land, condominium units and buildings (principally offices,
commercial and retail property) which are not occlipied substantially for use by, or in the operations
of the Group, nor for sale in the ordinary course of business, but are held primarily to earn rental
income and for capital appreciation.

* Real estate inventory comprises property that is held for sale in the ardinary course of business.

Principally, this is a residential property that the Group develops and intends to sell before or on
completion of construction,

The carrying values of the Group’s investment propertios and real estate inventories amounted fo
$26,273.2 million and P4,362.5 million as of December 31, 2019 and 18,9109 million (as restated,
see Note 2} and B4.958.6 million (as restated, see Note 2) ag of December 31, 2018, respectively (see
Notes 7 and 9),

Distinction between investment properties and owner-oecupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as investment property. In making its judgment,
the Group considers whether the property generates cash flow largely independent of the other assets
heid by an entity. Ohwner-occupied properties generate cash flows that are attributable not only te
property but also to the other assets ysed in the praduction or supply process.

Some properties coinprise a portion that is held to earn remals or for capital appreciation and another
portion that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. Ifthese portions cannot be soid separately as of the financial reporting date, the property is
accounted for as investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production
ar supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. Judgment is applied in determining
whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does not qualify as investment property.
The Group considers each property separately in making its judgment.

The carrying values of the Group’s investment propertics apd property and equipment amounted to
£20,273.2 million and P850.6 miHion as of December 31,2019 and #18,910.9 million (as restated, see
Note 2) and P954.8 million as of December 31, 2018, respectively (see Notes 9 and 10).

Determination of fair vaiue of financial and Aokfinaneial instrumenis

Where the fair values of financial and nonfinancial instruments recorded or disclosed in the
consotidated financial statements cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using,
internal valuation techniques using generally aceepted market valuation models. The inputs to these
medels are taken from observable markets where possible, bul where this is not feasible, estimates are
used in establishing fair values (see Note 28).

Provisions and contingencies

The Group is currently involved in legal proceedings, Management and jts fegal counsels believe that
the Group hes substantial lega! and factual bases for its positicn and is of the opinion that losses arising
from these legal actions, if any, will not have a material adverse impact on the Group’s finencial
position and resuits of operations. It is possible, however, that future results of operations could be
materiaily affected by changes in estimates or in the effectiveness of sirategies relating to these
proceedings. The Group did not recognize any provision in 2019, 2018 and 2017.
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Accounting Estimates and Assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
financial reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and labilities within the next financial year are as follows:

Revenue and cost recognition

The Group derives its real estate revenue from sale of lots, house and lot and condominium units,
Revenue from the sale of these real estate projects under pre-completion siage are recognized over time
during the construction period (or percentage of completion) since based on the terms and conditions
of its confract with the buyers, the Group's performance does not create an asset with an alternative use
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed io date,

In measuring the progress of its performance obligation over time, the Group uses the output methad.

Real sstale sales and cost of rezl estate sales amounted to P1,424.6 million and P§63.8 million
n 2019, £1,704.0 miliion and £1,196.1 million {as restated, see Note 2) in 2018 and P845.1 million
and #4713 million {as restated, see Note 2)in 2017, respectively.

Estimation of allowance for expected credit losses of debt instruments af amartized cost

The level of allowance for loans and receivables is evaluated by management based on past collection
history and other factors which include, but are not limited to the length of the Group’s relationship
with the customer, the customer’s payment behavior and known market factors that affect the
coliectability of the accounts, The Group recognized allowance for impairment on its contracts
receivable, lease receivable and refundable deposits amounting to B50.5 miltion, 7.6 million and B5.5
million on December 31, 2019 and 2468 million, 858 million and B8.0 million on December 31, 2018,
respeciively {see Notes 6 and 28),

Measurement of net realizahle vatue of rea! estate inventories

The Group adjusts the cast of its real estate inventories to net realizable value (NRV) based on its
assessrent of the recoverability of cost of the inventoriss, NRV for completed real estate inventories
is assessed with reference to market conditions and prices existing et the reporting date and is
determined by the Group in (he light of recent marker rransactions. NRV in respect of real estate
inventories under construction is assessed with reference to market prices at the reporting date for
similar completed property, less estimated costs to complete construction and less estimated costs tg
sell. The amount and timing of recorded expenses for any period would differ if different Judgments
were made or different estimates were utilized,

As of December 31, 2010 and 2018, real estate inventories, which are carried at cost, amounted to
£4,362.5 million and #4,958.6 million (as restated, see Note 2), respectively (see Note )

Leases - Estimating the JBR - effective January 1, 2019

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its IBR 1o
measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay fo borrow
ovet a similar term, and with a similar sgcurity, the funds necessary to obtain an ssset of a similar value
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group
*would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available or when they
need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease, The Group estimates the IBR using
observable inpuis (such as risk-free interest rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-
spectfic estimates (such as the Group’s stand-alone credit risk Tating}.

The Group’s lease liabilities amounied to P498.7 million as of December 31, 2019 (see Note 2N,
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Estimation of usefil lives of investment properties, and property and equipment excluding land and
Construction in progress, right-of-use aisets, and saftware

The Group estimates the useful {jves of its investment properties, property and equipment, right-of-use
assels and software based on the petiod over which the assets are expected to be avaitable for use, The
estimated useful lives of the investment properties, property and equipment, right-of-use assets and
software are reviewsd at least annually and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimatey

investment properties, property and equipment, right-of-use assets and software would incrsase
depreciation and amartization expense and decrease noncurrent assets,

There were no changes in the estimatad useful lives of depreciable investment properties, propetty and
equipment, right-of-use assets and software in 2019 and 2018. The camying values of the Group’s
investment properties (excluding land and construction in progress), property and equipment, right-of-
use assets and software amounted to BS,380.6 million, P8S0.6 million and 216.8 million, respectively,
as of December 31, 2019 and ¥6,393.5 miltion, P954.8 million and P4,7 million, respectively, s of
December 31, 2618 (see Notes ©, 10 and | 1).

Assessment of impairment of noncurrent nownfinancial assets and estimation of recoverable amount
The Group evaluates its nonfinancial assets, which include investment properlies, property and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and software, for any impairment in valve. This includes considering
certain indications of impairment such as significant changes i asset usage, significant decline in
assets’ market value, obsclescence or physical damage of an asset, significant underpetformance
relafive to expected historical or projected future operating results and significant negative industry or
ecanomic frands,

As described in the acoounting policy, the Group estimates the recoverable amount as the higher of the
asset’s fair value less costs to se!f and value-in-use. In determining the present value of estimated future
cash flows expected to be generated from the continued uss of the assets, the Group is required to make
estimates and assumptions that can materialiy affect the conselidated financisl statements,

The Group did not identify any indications of impairment, thus, it befieves that the carrying emounts
of its investment properties, property and equipment, right-ofiuse assets, and software amounting to
B20,273.2 million, B890.6 million and 216.6 million, respectively, as of Decembear 31, 2019 and
B18,910.9 million (as restated), £954.8 million and B4 7 million, respectively, as of December 31 . 2018
approximate their recoverable amounts (see Nores 9, 10 and 11).

Estimation of retirement benefits costs and liability

The determination of the Group’s retirement benefits costs and lizbility is dependent on selection of
certain assumptions used by actuaries in caleulating such amounts. Those assumptions are described in
Note 23 and inelude among ofhers, discount rate and salary increase rate. While the Group believes that
the assumptions are reasonable and appropriate, significant differences in actual experience or
significant changes in assumptions will materially affect retirement benefits obligations.

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, retirement benefits ligbility amounted to ®128.7 million and

B11.8 million, respectively. Retirement benefits cost amounted to ®] 1.0 million, B18.0 million and
£29.4 million in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Note 23).
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Recognition of deferred income 1ax assets

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of deferred income tax a8sels at sach financial reporting date
and makes adjustments to it to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxabie
profits will be available to allow al or part of the deferred income tax assets to be utitized. The Group
looks at its projecled financiaj performance in assessing the sufficiency of future taxabls income,

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Group recognized deferred income tax assets amounting to
#204.4 million and R197.9 million, respectively {see Note 243,

Segment Information

Qperating segments are components of the Group: {a) that engage in business activities from which the
Group may earn revenues and incur Josses and expenses (including revenyes and expenses relating to
transactions with other components of the Group); (b) whose operating results are regularly reviewed
by the Group’s chief operating decision maker (CODM) to make decisions about resources to be
allocated to the segment and assess its performance; and (c) for which discrote financial information is
available. The Group’s CODM Is the Parent Company’s BOD. The Parent Company’s BOD regularly
reviews the operating results of the business units 1o make decisions on resource allocation and assesg
performance, Segment revenyes and Sepment expenses are measwred in accordance with PFRSs.

The presentation and classification of se gment revenues and segment expenses are consistent with those
in the consolidated statements of income. Financing costs (inciuding interest expense) and income
taxes are managed on & per company basis and are not allocated to operating segments.

Further, the measurement of the segment assets is the same &s those described in the summary of
significant accounting and financial reporting policies.

The Group has only one geopraphical segment as all of its assets are locatad in the Philippines. The
Group operates and derives ail of its revenue from domestic operations, Thus, geographical business
information is not required.

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that those economic benefits will flow to the
Group and that the revenue can be reliably measured. The Group does not have revenue from
transaction with a single external customer, which amount to 10% or more of the Group’s revenues.

Segment expenses are those directly attributable to the segment and the relevant portion of an SXpense
that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to the segment, including expenses such as direct costs and
expenses and general and administrative sxpenses.

The business segments where the Group operates follow;

* Residenuial developments - sale of residential lots and condominium vnits; and,

* Leasing activities - development of Business Process Outsourcing (BPO) build ings, and
commesrcial spaces and condominium units for lease,

* Serviced apartmenis - operations of rooms and other operated departments at “The Mini Suites” in
Eton Tower Makati
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mnents, there were no intersegment revenues generated for all

years,
2019
Unaltacated
Resldencial Lensing Serviced Corporate
- Developmenty Activities Apartments Balpuce Coosoljdg ted
Revenlie from external customers PLAZ4597666 WIT0783336)  PISIBsa.dn: B~ FI31495311
Drirpet costs . 653 788.693)  (446.209,153) (129621 68%) — (1,340,299 552
Grass profit 60,808,973 1 260,944,180 53,240,793 - 2,073,993 245
Belling, gengral wd adminispative [ {101 245 a4 - - (685,331,734 486876 Ti4)
Operating income 659,263,923 1.260 944,180 52,240,703 (685,331 T3 1287117162
[nterest income Ll - S 98,325,367 105,943,366
Other income {charges) - pet (%4,378,733) T87,515,0)7 13 441 068 105,034,656 250,054,029
Finance charges = - = (364339370 [364.939,771
Pravision for income tax - - = (378 38T 929 (378,357 920
Sepment prailt PRI2508131 M 448 Ye3 719 265 65L 362 (P 236360 411 BG83, 700
Ottier information
Seament assets BG6.455 623,714 P12 JT6934, 241 P734.354 747 P12 431 380,544 !!31;32?.693.151]_
Seement iiabilities P1.473.487017 PE72931 050 PI2.545.740 PI10.633.028,772 FIS,BB‘IJDS.H'L
Segment addltions to property and
equipment, investment properties and
software #3B,012 360 E1568340 425 E20,174 - RLOD6.645 060
Depreciation #nd amortzs oy 58,571,631 297,735,706 45,893 399 - 402,200,736
2018 (As restated, Note 2)
Unallg:aey
Residential Leasing Setviced Corporale
Cevelopments Activilies Apariments Baiunee Consolidated
Revesue from external customarg ELIGLOI055)  P1.494 724,468 B3 245 771 B A329( 980,790
DHreet costs (1,195 125 303} (373 553 433) (65,760, 756) = (1.63543%.492)
Gross profit SO7T885248  1,121,171,038 27,485,015 = 1686541298
Selllng, peneral and sdministrative =mxpenses (B85 435 b09) = - (796,585 260 (852041 359
Cperating incoms 422,430,139 1.121,171,005 2748505 (796,586,260) 774,499 2y0
Interest income 14,323,845 | = 42 896 185 57310230
[ther income {charges) - et {79,500 452) 158,982 530 6,207 090 §4,479 458 140,778,526
Fimance charges = - = (291,172 406) {291,172 49¢)
Provistan for income lax = = = (189,693 593) (189,693 593}
Segment profit PIST.162, 532  P1,280153.%65 #34,3%3.005 (B1.0Y0976 836)  Bdng .131.565_
Ocher information o
Segment gssels PT.OBS, LER, 700 1047 30068 EORLLA05 312 2810253 438 M 1,2B8.03%,517
Deferred income tax assens - net - = - 33,596 435 33596435
Total sezment azspls PROBS 118,799 R10.471,730.068 BO01 805312 RI2EGIETY BT B30 372 514 931
Sepmiend liabilities P67 485 585 __P1.049.603 144 B7.765.427 #10,59]1.517 764 Pl4.328 375920
Segment addilions 1 propecty &nd
oquipment, invesiment properties and
saftware 14,763 143 2,358,297 442 B7,929 P R2,303156,014
Depreciation and amortization 37413019 222311452 81,443,709 = 12 968,140
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2017 (As restated Note 2)

.32.-

. Unalfocapd
Resideneial Leasing Serviced Corporate
] Developments Activities  Apartments Balancx: Consolidated
Revenue from external cuslomers BRIE 152,17 RLISROLO2T0 BES,112.075 B~ P2.318,174,7%
Direet eosts (471295405)  (308447.085) (80,618 202) - (B30,362,601)
Grass profit ITITS4828 1 079,563,184 14,493,973 - 1 487512,087
Selling, seneral and administrative ExpEnges (35,363,654 - - 696,154 470) [TIE528 169)
Operating incame 338390227 1,079,563, 154 3893973 (606.164,470) 736293014
Indercst incomme 16,472,875 - - 28,081,279 44,535,155
Other income (chatges) » net {93,177, 383y 150,618,283 4,019 30] 33.757.434 95,215 535
Finance ¢harges = - - (35%0197304)  (335.119704)
Provision for income tax = — - (164 232 379 (164 233 379)
Segment profit __PR61 686,720 i 230.179.467 BIES)3178  (®).153,665840)  $375.713 43
Dther information
Segment assets F9.304 874795 PR9TE,156,130  #1,018,040,136 #10,150,124,232  P29,571,195,291
Deferred income tax assets - ret - ~ - 31,068 838 31,068 538
Total seement asgets B934 £74 705 FE.QTE.ISS,I:}U' PILOIE040 E36 BLO 2T 1193070 B39 602 254 131
Segment lisbilities : £2316,179.830  $267| 935501 PI.640982 FR.144,213167 P13.135 570,875
Segment additions to propery and
€Quipment, invesiment properties angd
software £30,330,976  P1,740,087,433 P B~ ALITgALE4]
Uepreciatior and amortfzation A58 20s 177,940,921 4114817 - 254,904 052
5. Cash and Cash Equivalenis
2019 2018
Cash on hand and in banks P316,639,052 B675,579,055
Cash equivalents 1,507,235,970 1.966,964.01 5
== $2,323,875,922  R2,642,543 70
Cash in banks earn inferest at the prevailing bank deposit rates (see Note 18). Cash equivalents are
shott-term, highly liquid investments that are mads for varying periods of up to three months depending
on the immediate cash requirements of the Group and earn interest at the prevailing short-term
investiment rates tanging from 0.10% to 6.00% in 2019 and §.78% to 65.50% in 2018,
Interest income from cesh znd cash equivalents amounted to B9S2 million, 843.0 million and
B28.1 million in 2019, 2018 and 201 7, respectively (see Note 18).
6. Trade and Other Receivables

e 2013 2018
Contracts receivables F398,385,608 1,071,334 642
Receivables ftom buyers 462,812,332 454,019,067
Lease receivables (Note 27) 11,088,635 45 816,320
Receivables from tenants 11,404,683 41,566,610
Others 262,523,527 161,414,405
1,656,214,755 1,774,151,044

Less allowance for expected credit losses
(Motes 2 and 28) 58,129,883 82,660,835
1,598,084,902 1,691,490,200
Less noncurrent portion of contracts receivables 74,304,192 294,717.675

913,780,710 _P1,396,772,534
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& Contracts receivables consist of reven ues recognized to date based on the percentage-of-compietion
less coilections received from the respective buyers.

Interest from contracts recejvables amounted to B7.6 million, P14.3 million and #16.5 milljon ip
2019, 2018 and 2017, tespectiveiy (see Note 18).

b. Receivables from buyers include receivables relating to Tegistration of titles, turnover fees and
advances paid for on behalfof buyers whereas receivables from tenants represent charpes to tenants
for utilities normally cellectible within a year,

¢.  Other receivables include acerued interest recaivable partaining to interest samed from cash end
cash equivalents and contracts receivables, Included also in other receivables are the advances to
officers and employees which pertam to unliquidated cash advances that are due within one year.
Unliquidated cash advances to officers and employees are recoverable through salary deduction,

7. Real Estate Inventories

2018

(As Restated,

B _ 2019 _Note 2)
Condominivm and residential ynits ®217,620,008 B266,988.06]
Land held for development 217,541,962 217,541,962
Subdivision projects under development - X,927.356,951 4,474,028,510

P4,362,518,951 _P4,958,558,533

8. A summary of the movements in real sstate inventories is set out below:

2018
{As Restated,
o o - 2019 Note 2)
Beginning of vear P4,958,558,533 P6.229,783,620
Development costs incurred (Notes 15 and 17) 262,303,031 394,854,818
Transfer from investment properties (Note 9 2,038,096 -
Transfer to investment properties (MNote 9 = (282,912,167)
Disposals and others (860,380,709) ¢ 1,383,162,747)
End of year - P4,362,518,951  P4,95 8,558,532

b. In 2009, the Group acquired parcels of land threugh an asset-for-ghare swap agresment.
The land, with a total appraised value of #3,953.2 million, was transfarred to the Group in exchange
for the issuance of 1.6 billion common shares (see Note 25), A pottion of the fand where the
Group’s buiidings held for lease is sitated, with an allocated cost of P658.9 million, was
recognized as investment property in 2009, The remaining portion of the land, with an aliocated
cost of £3,294.3 million, was considered as rea) estate inventory,

In 2010, the Group reclassified & portion of the fand, which was previously recognized as real estate
inventory as of December 31, 2009 with cost amounting to P2,187.4 million, to investment property
in view of management's plan to develop thereon additional buildings to be held for leass
(sey Note 9). On July 21, 2011, the Philippine SEC epproved the valuation of the land acquired
through the asset-for-share swap agreement at B4.Q billion, thereby, resulting to an increase in the
recorded value of the land by R46.8 million.

RN



¢. The 2018 comparative information was restated to

-4 -

reflect the adjustments on the capitalization of
borrowing costs. As = result of restatements, the inventories have been restated and decreased by
F69.4 million and B82.4 million as of December 31, 2018 and January 1, 2018, respectively.

Real estars inventories recognized as part of cost of real estate sales amounted to B663.8 million,
P1,196.1 million (as restated, see Note 2)and B471.3 million (as restated, ses Note 2) in 2019, 2018

and 2017, respectively.

8_ Other Current Assets

» 2019 2018
Input VAT $979,140,918  R99§92] 534
Deferred rent assets (Note 27 244,206,352 170,161,556
Creditable withholding taxes 235,675,669 272,486,752
Advanees {0 contractors and suppliers (Mote 15) 112,520,486 131,237,469
Prepayments __ - 48,183,356 16,067,178

_ . P1619,716,781 8] 88,874,489

a.  Deferred rent asset is used to record rental income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

b. Advances to contractors are recouped every settlement of progress billings based on percentage of
accamplishment of each contract package. The activities related 1o these advances will be
completed within the Group’s normal operating cyele.

c. Prepayments consist of prepaid insurance, taxes and licenses and other prepaid expenses. Prepaid

taxes and licenses consist of unamortized p
real estate taxes,

ortion of taxes and licenses such as business permit and

Investment Prtr_perties

As of December 31, 2019

Land
Improvemenis  LCondomininm Construction
= Litd  wnd Buildinps Units in Progreus Tata)

Cost
Beginning of year BESITRILYIY  PEAT1997325  P1,680,940.519 $4,177.592,262  P20,009 458,545
Additigns 2,259,378 34,334,930 35,551,449 1579445238 1.651.590,991
Reclassification and others - 3204548553 —  {3,264,5848.5¢1 -
Transfer 1 real eslate

inventories (Nete 7) - (962 £d4) (ED75.482) - (2,038 096)
End of year 8.344,155,1 t4 9,139.218.174 1,715,446 515 2462489937  11.658.608 740
Acgumufared Depreciation
Beginning of year - LOIE 3236852 86,210,194 = 1.097,533,966
Depreciation for the vaar - 338412265 (48,011,030) - 287,301,235
End of vear 1,346,736,127 33,095,004 - 1384838301

MNet Book Valoes PE2.340,155.114

7,703 182047 31.6?7.3-1_‘?_.411 P2462,486 837 #20,273,173,539
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As of December 31, 2018 {As restated, Note :

Caat

Land
Improvements Condominum Canstrction
Land  #nd Buildings Uhils in Frocresg ___ Totsi_

Beginning of yaar PE200.534.200  £5,750.751 446 PE4536 878  P2,728 668,496 n| T1383.611,110
AddHtions 38,149,849 12,236 129 23631032 2264,255432 235820 442
Reclassification and gthers 2,220,000 - 444,492 950 {8418.712,960) -
Transfer fom reai escate

imventaries (Nete 7) 67,972,600 40,009,750 134,533,522 13829 1329t7,187
Teansfer 1o property and cquipment

Notg 13

(16363 874 116,361,824)

End of vear 8,337,895 739 S811997 328 LE30570,518 4 177 552 262 20,0084 5% 845

Accumulated Depreciatipn

Beginning of year - B45,%60,703 29,861,811 - BT4222 534
Depreciation for the vear - 165 963 159 36,148,203 ~ 22231453

End of vear

1,011,323 852 85,210,104 ~ 1097533964

Net Boak Valaes _P8337805,730  P4R00,673.463  P).594 760 415 B4,177592262 PIS910621,679

a.

In 2019 and 2018, the Group reciassified the costs of land previously recognized as rea] estate
inventory amounting to nil and B68.0 million, respectively, to investment property. Maragement
plans to develop thereon additional buildings to be held for lease (see Nate 7).

In 2019 and 2018, the Parent Company reclassified the cost of condominium units, which was
previously recognized as real sstate invenfory totaling to nil and B31.4 million, respectively, o
investment property in view of management’s pian to lease the units (see Note .

In 2019 and 2018, the Parent Company reclassified from jnvestment properties to property and
equipment the costs of condeminium units and funiture, fixtures and equipment to be used in the
operations of serviced apartments totaling to nil and P16.4 million, respectively (see Note 10).

In 2019, the Parent Company reciassified from investment properties to real sstate inventory the
costs of condominium units and parking slots for sale totaling to 2.0 million (see Note 7L

The 2018 comparative information was restated to reflect the adjustments on the capitatization of
borrowing costs, As a result of restatements, the inventories previously reclassified to investment
properties have been restated and decreased by B83.3 million as of December 31, 2018 and
January 1, 2018. Borrowing costs capitalized as cost of investment properties as of
December 31, 2019 and 2018 amounted to P153.0 miilion and R134.9 million, respectively
(see Notes 15 and 18).

Rental income and direct operating expenses arising from the investment properties amounted ta
B1,707.8 million and P446.9 million in 2019, F1,494.7 million and B373.6 million in 2018, and
®|,388.0 miilion and 2308.4 miilion in 20 7, respectively,

Depreciation of investment properties amounting to #284.4 million, B220.1 million and

£176.4 million were recognized as part of cost of rental income in 2019, 2018 and 2017,
respectively,
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g The estimated fair value of land, candominium units, and buildings for Jease are as foilows:

Property Approach ~____FairValue Valuation Renort Dats
Land Market approach 832,111,712,000 January 8, 2020
Condominium units ~ Market approach 3,659,914,276 Januaty 8, 2020
Buildings for lease Cost appraach 5,891,796,200 December 13, 2019
Building for lease Cost approach 1,333,664,400 April 25, 2019

= P42 697,086,879

The estimated fair value of the land and condominium units was arrived at using the Market
Approach. In this approach, the value of the land and building were based on sales and listings of
comparable property registered within the vicinity. The approach requires the adjustments of
comparable property by reducing reasonable comparative sales and listings to & common
denominator. For the vaiuation of the buildings for lease, the Cost Approach method of valuation
is used. This method is based on the economic principle that & buyer wil) pay ne mete for an asset
than the cost to obtain an asset of equal utility, whether by purchase or by construction. In
estimating the cost of replacement of the new building and other land improvements, the Modified

Quantity Survey Method is adopted.

The valuations were performed by Philippine SEC.-accredited and independent valuer. The
valuation model used in accordance with that recommended by the International Valuatian
Standards Council has been appiied. These valuation models are consistent with the principles in

PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement.

10. Property and Equipment

As of December 31, 2019:

Furniture
Servieed Transportation  Fixtures and Leasehold

Apartments Eqwipmeat Equipment  {mprovements Total
Cast
Beginnimg of year #9590, 148 67T PE0DSADTES  P199,742, 048 P13, 306491 #1,253,100,988
Additions 296,174 4,921,250 14,236,802 1,071,429 20,525,658
Retivement/Disposal - d,277,693) — - (4.277.683)
End of vear 900,444 85I 7,547,332 213,978 867 24371920 1,249 348 960
Acpumulate] Depreciation

and Amortization

Baginning of year 94,558,624 50,761,084 160,884,178 X1,079,449 318,263,335
Depreciation and amartization (Note 20) 45,891,399 7,289,430 19.072.423 1,077,148 83332400
RetiremeniDisrosal - (2,834,082) - - (2.934.082)
End of vear 140,452,031 55216432 189,236, 601 23,156,557 408,761 653
Nt Book Yelues _ $849,992,829 ~ R15,330 8% ¥24,042,268 #1,221,323 PE!'II,SET,JEII'{___
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As of December 31, 2018:

. . Fusnitpre
Serviced  Trangporiation Fixhres and Leageheld

- Apartments Equipment Eouitment  Improvements Total
Cost ks
Begi_nning of year #973,713,374 R62,630,57¢  $175,249,712 P21,306.49 ®1,235,000,]152
Additions 71,439 2,983,530 24,392,353 - 34,453312
Transfer from invastment propertics

{Mue 9) 16,363,874 - - = 16,363,874
Retirement/Dis posal e (2.716,351) - = 2,716,351
End of vear 990,148 677 69,503,755 199,742 045 23,306,491 1.283.100988
Acoutnulated Depresianion i

apd Amortization
Beginning of year 41,114,915 47,045,224 139,202,236 20932,802 248,385,177
Gepreciation and amontization (Note 20) 51.443,709 5,414,334 21,571,842 1,146,647 82,576,632
BetirementDizoosai ) - (2,698.414) - = (2,693 474)
End of year 94,558 624 50,761,084 160,864,178 22,079 448 328263335
I"let Book Valueg -~ B893,590,051 219,142,671 PIE 87T 847 B1,227.042 FQS-!,SB?.ﬁ_SHS._

The Group has fully depreciated property and equipment that are still in use with cost of
B204.7 million and P182.7 million as of December 3 1, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

In 2019 and 2018, the Group recognized as part of “Cost of rental incame” the depreciation and
amortization of equipment and leasehold improvements used in leasing activities amounting to
B16.4 million and B12.5 miltion, respectively.

11. Other Noncurrent Assets

) 2019 2018

Advances to contractors and suppliers (Note 2} P286,116,256 £359,309,024
Refundable deposits - net (Note 28 159,606,281 170,287,640
Software 16,572,063 4,682,619
Creditable withholding taxes 7,253,829 -~
Deferred inpnt VAT 4,414,057 4,533,401
Others 2,900,000 2,900,000
B476,862,486 B541,712,684

a. Refundable deposits consist pringipally of amounts peid to utility providers for service applications
and gusrantee deposit required by the Makati Commetcial Estate Association (MACEA). Deposits

peid to utility companies will be refunded upon termination of the service contract while

deposit paid to MACEA will be refunded upon project completion,

The rollforward analysis of the Group's software follows:

2019 2018
Cost
Beginning of year P63,516,207 £43,104,947
Additions 17,752,888 411,260
End of year B 81,299,095 63,516,207
Accumulated Amortization
Beginning of year 58,833,588 50,753,492
Amaorntization (Note 24) 5,893,444 8,080,098
End of vear . ) 64,727,032 58,833,588
Net Book Values #16,572,063 P4,682 619

guaranige
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In 2019 and 2018, the Group recognized as part of
software used in leasing activities amounting to P03

“Cost of rental incoma” the amortization of
& million,

12. Trade and Other Payables

) 2019 2018

Accounts payable F1,163,255,228 PE65,030,958

Retentions payable 771,080,486 746,279,574

Taxes payable 267,299,817 235,908,560
Accrued expenses:

Real estate development casts 1,024,700,141 1,097,298,70]

Utilities, outside services and others 181,769,860 175018273

Interesk 122,955,763 93,032,652

~_ Rentals - 202,783,401

£3,531,062,295 $3.436.252.119

8. Accounts payable includes amount pay&ble to contractors for

costs. Retention payable pertains to the amount with

as a guaranty for any claims against them. Accounts payable

settled within the Group's norme! operating cygle.

the construction and development
progress billings of the contractors
and retentions payable are normally

held from

b Accrued expenses represent various accruals of the Group for its expenses and real estate projects.
Accrued real estate development costs are construction-related accruals for the real estate projects

of the Group.

13,

14,

Customers’ Dei:osits

Customers’ deposits represent payments received from buyers of condominium and residential units
that wil! eventually be applied against the torresponding contracts receivables fellowing the revenue

recognition policy of the Group.

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, customets’ deposits amounted to B978.6 million and

®1,115.1 miltion, respectively.

Loans Payable
2019 2018
Bank loans £6,288,300,000 P7,220,600,000
Less unamortized transaction costs 22,600,683 29,634,654
6,265,699.317 7.190,965,344
Less current portion 1,199,758,184 717,818,425
Nongurrent portion P5)065,941,133  B6,453,148,62|

Bank loans

a. [n 2018, Parent Company entered into an unsecured tern loan agreement with Bank of the

Philippine Islands (BPT) amounting to $5,000.0 miilien to finance the construction of the
Parent Company’s projects, On July 31, 2018, £500.0 mitlion was initially drawn and an additional
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B1,000.0 million on September 26, 30]8. The term loan with BPI has a nominal rate of 6.8% and
7.5% for the first and second drawdown, respectively. Principal repayments will commence three
years from the date of injtial borrewing, while interest payments are due quarterfy.

b, In 20186, the Parent Company entered into a loan agreement with Philippine National Bank (PNB)
amounting to P4,500.0 million secured by a certain pareel of {and located ir, Sta, Rosa, Laguna and
an office building in Ortigas Avenue, Quezon City, In the same year, the Parent Company have
availed of the loan in two drawdowns totaling £2,000.0 million. Last 2017, the Parent Company
had a third drawdown of the loan with the amount of #2,490.0 million, bringing the total cash
received through PNB loan to #4,490.0 miliion. The term loans with PNB bears nomina! interest
rate of 5.0% and will mature on May 31, 2023. Principal repayments will commence two years
from the date of initial drawdown and due quarterty while interest payments are due quarteriy
starting August 31, 2017

¢. The Parent Company entered into an unsecured term loan agreement with Asia United Bank
(AUB), in 2018, amounting to B1,500.0 million to finance the coustruction of the Parent
Company’s projects, The term loans with AUB bear nominal interest rate of 5.0% and will mature
on Septernber 28, 2023. Principal repayments will commence two years from the date of availment
and due quarterly while interest payments are due quarterly starting Decomber 28, 2016,

A On January 28, 2013, the Parent Company entered into an unsecured term loan agreement
with BDO amounting to £2,000.0 million to finance the construction of the Parent
Company’s projects. Principal repayments will start one year ftom the date of avaiiment
and are due quarterly while interest payments are due quarterly starting April 28, 2013,
The term loan bears & nominal interest rate of 5.53%. On October 28, 2013, the Parent
Company and BDO agreed to the new interest rate of 4.75%. The Parent Company settled
the outstanding loans upon their maturity in January 2018.

d. The Parent Company is required to maintain ¢ertain financial ratios and comply with nen-financial
covenants for each bank loan. As at Decernber 31, 2019 and 2018, the Parent Company is in
compliance with the financial and non-financia! loan covenants.

The transaction costs representing fees, taxes and other charges incurred in obtaining the loan were
deferted and amortized using the effective interest method, The amortization of transaction costs is
recognized as part of “Finance charges™ account in the consolidated statements of income.

Movements in the unamortized transaction costs of bank loans are as fallows:

i B 2019 2018
Balances at beginning of vear £19.634,654 P27,500,885
Additions = 11,250,000
Amortization of transaction costs - (7,033,971) (9,116,231)

Balances at end of vear #22,600,683 P29.634,654

Interest expense related to loans payable amcunted to £253.3 million, 82247 million and
P200.5 million, net of capitalized portion of R139.5 million, B121.3 millicn and 58.3 million in 20189,
2018 and 2017, respectively (sec Notes 5 and 18),
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15, Payables to Landowners

N Note 2019 2018
Five-year 6%-promissory note, quarterly installment a P323,758,189  P379,684 538
Three-year floating rate promissory nots,

quarterly installment b 1,061,190,858  1,061,190,858
3.95%-ptomissary note (Note 17) c 444,000,000 444,060,000
1,828,949,047  1,384,875.396

Less current portion 1,828,249.047 499,926,349
Noncurtent portion ) B P1,184,949,047

a. In December 20135, the Parent Company executed contracts to sell, subject to interest rate of 6%,
to PNB, a related party, amounting to ®754.0 million in relation 1o its purchase of parcels of Jand
located in San Juan City, Pasig City and Paszy City with a tota) purchase price of B984.0 miilion,
The promissory note is payable quarterly for five years from execution aof the note.
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, outstanding payables amounted to £323.8 million and
#379.7 million, respectively (see Mote 17),

b, On various dates in 2014, ECI and BCI executed a B1061,2 million promissory notes, subject fo
interest rate of PDSTF 3 years + 0.50%, to various landowners in relation to their purchased parcels
of land located in Sta. Rosa, Laguna with totsl purchase price of 1.4 billion. The promissory notes
are due on the third yzar of its execution date. In June 2017, the payment of the various promissory
netes was extended for another three years.

e, In 2017, the Parent Company reclassified the outstanding notes payable to Asia Brewery,
Incorporated (ABI) amounting to F444.0 million from “Due to related parties” to “Payabie to
landowners” (see Note 17),

d. In February 2016, the Parent Company executed z contract to sell, subject to interest rate of 5%, to
PNB, a related party, amounting to #!,900.0 million in relation to its purchase of parcels of land
located at Mactan Island, Cebu. The Parent Company paid £570.0 million as a downpayment.
The remaining balance amounting to 21,330.0 million is payable in quarterly instailments for the
first five years starting 2017, totaling to P665.0 million and the remaining balance emounting to
B665.0 million through balleon payment on the fifth year from the execution of the contract,
In 2017, the outstanding payable was fuily paid by the Parent Company,

e. Interest expense related to payables to landowners amounted fo B75.1 million, B65.9 million and
BIC0.5 million, net of capitalized portion of P13.5 miilion in 2019, 2018 and 2017
(ses Notes 9 and 18), '

16, Other Noneurrent Liabilities

i - 2019 2018
Security deposits B560,671,576  B506,007,156
Advance rentals 65,710,240 07,196,791
Deferred rental income 70,996,435 64,219,252
Retirement beneflts liability (Note 23) 128,727,857 31,753,633

826,106,108 699,176,832

fFarward)
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2019 2018

Less current portion of: o
Security deposits P145,720,092  £243 7243 8438
Advance rentals - 43,225,585 69,243.449

) 188,945,677 312,487,207
- _P637,160,431  P386,689.535

Security deposits pertain to the amounts peid by the tenants at the inception of the lease which are
refundable at the end of the lease term., Security deposits are initially recorded at fajr value, which was
obtained by discounting future cash flows using the appiicable rates of similar types of insttuments.

Advance rentals pertain to deposits from tenants which will be applied against receivables gither at the
beginning or at the end of lease term based on the lease confract.

17. Related i_’arty Transactiong

Parties are considered to be related if one party bas the ability to control the other party or exercise
significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions, This includes
(a) individuals owning, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control or are
controlied by, or under commen control with the Group; (b) associates; and (c) individuals owning,
directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting power of the Group that gives them significant influence
over the Group and close members of the family of any such individual. In considering each related
party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, and not merely the jegal
form,

The table below shows the details of the Group's transactions with related parties.

Fingnzial
Statement Amount/Volume Outstanding Balsnet  Tepmy aud
. Actount . 2019 2018 pAT} L] 2018 Conditions
Subsidiaries of Deposits and
LTG Cash and cash placements;
eouivalents FIT2400,93% B794,331.350 1 BE6,507401 #1,714,106.463 ihlerest-bearing
Payable to Unsgedured;
landowners 205,641,311 52692924 (323,754,187) {37%.684,538) Intergst bearing
Payable ta Unsecnred,
landowners - = 4,000,000  (444,000.0000  intercst bearing
Payable to Unsecursd;
lendowners - - U45,384,930)  (149,364,930)  inierest bearing
Socured;
Logns payehle BSL050,000 260400000 {3,569,550,000) (4,220.600,000)  imerest beering
IPayables 1o related Unsecured,
paticg o - - == = _— imterest bearing
Joint Venture Contracts Nun-iple:‘est
of L¥G receivables ~ 810968600 — 23683470 Dearing
Enifties under Manngement fee;
Common Contral Payables o related non-{nterast
parties (71,667 .965) - (T 160,000 —~  begring
Unsecured; non-
Retentions payeble - - (3,021,083) {3,021,083) interest bearing
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As of December 31, 2015 and 2018, the outstanding related party balances are unsecured ang settlement
occurs in cash, unless otherwise indicated. The Group has rot recorded any impairment of receivables
relating to amounts owed by related parties. This assessment is undertaken each financial year through

examining the financial position of the related parties and the market in which these related pertiss
pperate.

Other terms and conditions related to the above related party balances and transactions ars as follows:

Transactions with Subsidiaries of LTG
* Portion of the Group's cash and cash equivalents are depasited with PNE.

+ [n2017 and 2016, the Parent Company entered into an unsecured teem loan agreament with PNB
amounting to £2,490.0 million and £2,000.0 million, respectively, to finance the construction of
the Parent Company’s projects. Total outstanding payables amounting to £3,569.6 million and
P4,220.0 million were recorded under “Loans payable™ in the consolidated statements of financial
position as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively {see Note 14},

* In2016 and 2015, the Parent Company purchased parcels of land from PNB for its future projects,
The total price of the parcels of land amounted to B1,900.0 million ang #1,394.0 miliion,
respectively. Total outstanding pavable amounting to F323.8 million and 3797 milljon were

recorded under “Payables to landowners" as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively
{(see Note 15),

* In 2014, the Parent Company purchased a parcol of land owned by an affiliate amounting to
B90.0 million. Outstending payable amounting to B66.9 million was recorded under “Payables 1o
related parties” as of December 31, 2016, In 2017, the outstanding payable was fully paid by the
Parent Company,

» In 2014, ECI purchased parcels of land from related parties amounting to 2201.8 million,
Total outstanding payables amounting to #149.4 million were recorded as part of “Payables to
landowners™ s of December 31, 2019 and 2018 {see Note 15),

e On Qctober 1, 2013, the Parcnt Company purchased a parcel of tand from ABI with total lot area
of 10,000 square meters for B600.0 mitlion. Of this amount, the Group paid 8156.0 million as down
payment and issved a promissory note for the remaining balance of B444.0 million with a
3.95% interest rate per annum. As of December 31 , 2018, the outstanding balance is payabie on
demand,

* The Group has a lease agreement with PNB for the use of the latter’s common area a5 office space
of the former. Total rental expense recognized by the Group included in “Qutside services™
amounted to nil in 2019, 817.5 million in 2018 and ¥21.0 million in 2017 (see Note 20).

Transactions with Joint Venture of LTG

*  On April 16, 2018, the Parent Company exeouted a deed of absolute sale with ALI-Eton Property
Develupment Corporation, a related party, for the sale of parcels of land totaling to 2724.1 million,
net of VAT. As of December 31, 201%, outstanding contracts recsivable amounted to
#236.2 million which was due and paid in November 2016.
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Transactions with Entities under Common Control

® The Group has outstanding advances to Grandspan Development Corporation pertaining to the
development of the Group’s projects and is included as part of “Other current assets” account.

e In2011, the Group entered into a hanagement conlract agreement with BHC. Total management
fee recognized by the Group included in “Outside services™ amounted to ¥73.9 million,
#71.9 miliion and P69.2 million in 201 9, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Note 20,

*  The following are the transactions and balances among related parties which are eliminated in the
consolidated statements of financial position:

Amonnts Amounts
owed by owed to: Terms and Conditions 201% 2018
ECI EPP] Advanges; N
noninterest-bearing B766,534.646 B748,130,908
ECI BCl1 -do- 51,911,693 52,367,093
FHI EPPI ~do- 50,704,824 50,107,103
BC] EPPI] ~do- 299790 947 491
EPMC EFP] -do- - 771,107

Key Management Personne!

Compensation of key management personnel are as follows:

. 2019 2018
Salaries and wages #19,566,385 B15,768,347
Retirement benetits costs 6,234,337 5,024,188
. 25,800,722 $20,792,535
18, Interest Income and Finance Charges
) 2019 2018 2017
Interest meame:
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 5) P08,325,367  P42,996.385 B28,083,279
Contracts receivables (Note 6) 7,623,941 14,323,845 16,472,876

P105,948,308  £57,320,230 B44,556,155

Finance charges:
Interest expense on:

Loans payable (Nota 14) B392,788,177 R146,013,592 $258,766,163
Payables to landowners
{Notes 14 and 135) 76,069,633 79,443,944 151,024,982
Lease Labilities (Note 27) 42,116,703 - ~
_ Security deposits 5,943,986 -

516,918,499 425,457,536 409,791,145
Capitalized interest in investment propertics

(Nete §) | (152,981,564) (134,850,525)  (71,781,277)
363,936,935 290,607,011 338,009,868
_ Bank charges and others " 402,836 565.485 17,109,836

P364.339,771 P291,172,496 2355,115,704
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5.11% and 3.95%, respectively. Others include pe

material as to amounts.
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19. Selling Expenses

ng in 2019 and 2018 were 5.85% and 3.95%, and
naities and surcharges which are individualiy not

2019 2018 2017
Commissions P101,545,050  £35455,100  P35.361.600
Advertising and promotions 10,071,404 15,706,978 11,233,159
- - Pi11,616,454 P101,162,087 46,506,858
20. General and Administrative Expenscs
2019 2018 2017
Personnel costs (Note 21) P192,981,563 R184,155265 B] 92,752,164
Qutside services (Note 17) 124,976,566 156,639,731 151,221,535
Taxes and licenses 111,745,045 96,179,447 03,701,921
Depreciation and amartization
(Notes 10 and 1 1) 86,566,021 77,381,351 69,419,490
Repairs and maintenance 58,317,960 82,824,722 48,849,175
Communication, light and water 27,137,497 42,763,111 23,334,833
Travel and transportation 24,840,231 32,442 689 28,905,500
Professicnal fees 158,450,949 14,893,685 13,723,285
Entertainment, amusement and recreation 8,853,166 14,245,209 21,982 B4s
OTice supplies 3,069,988 6,784,646 4,865,618
General insurance 6,083,634 6,056,306 13,600, 584
Others 152317111 56,512,526 22,455,350
o - P675,260,330.  P780.879,312  P6B4.931,311

Others include expenditures training and seminar fees, membershi

costs which are individually not material.

b fees and research and development

21. Personnel Costs

) - 2019 2018 2017

Salaries and wages #142.218,112 8133,731,032  R130,586,528
Employee benefits 40,337,530 33,280,810 32,649,564
Retirement benefits cost (Note 23) 10,969,896 17,987,300 29,415 972
P193,825,538 P184,999.341  R192,752,164

The Group recognized BO.8 million perscnnel cost under “cost of rooms and other operated
departments” in 2019 and 201 8,
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22. Other Income (Charges)

| - 2019 2018 2017
Rental dues P187,815,037 P158,982,530 £150,616,283
Loss on cancelled contracts {54,378,733) (79,591,452) (93,177,383
Management fees 24,170,203 16,043,229 15,935,418
Penalty income and late

payment charges 6,707,032 7,104,003 5,002,353
Cthers - net - 87,926,791 33,483,580 16,983,413

T _ F252.244.330  Pi36021.890  B9S 364,08

Rental dues pertain to income arising from charges and axpenses recharged to tenants, Loss on

cancelled contracts represents the loss incurred by the Group as a result of cancellation of contracts to
sell by the buyer or the Group in general.

Others include penalties and late payment charges, gain or loss on disposal of fixed assets, day ! gain
sscurity deposits and miscellansous income.

23, Retirement Benefits

RA No. 7641 {(“Refirement Pay Law™), an Act Amending Article 287 of Presidential Decres No. 442
("Labor Code of the Philippines™}, requires a provision for retirement pay te qualified private sector
employess in the absence of any retirement plan in the entity, provided, however, that the employee’s
retirement benefits under any collactive bargaining and other agreements shall not be less than those
provided under the law, The law does not require minimum funding of the plan,

On June 26, 2018, the Board of Directors approved the new retirement plan for the Group's employess.
The key differences between the new and old retirement, plans are as follows;

The new retirement plan provides early retirement benefit,

The old retirement plan provides an employee 17.50 days final basic salary for every year of service
with a fraction of six months considered as ane year, while the new retirement plan provides
22.5 day-final monthly salary for every year of service upon normal or late retirement and a
percentage of the accrucd retirement benefits for early retirement,

In 2019, the Group has implemented a Multi-Emplever Retirement plan which is noncontributory and
based on the final salary defined benefit type,

The retirement fund of the Group is maintained by PNB as the trustee bank, The Group's transactions

with the fund mainty pertain to contribution made for the year. The cost of defined benefit pension plan
and the present value of the pension obligation are determined using actuarial valuations.
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The tables on the next page summuarize the components of the net retirement benefits costs recognized
in the consolidated statements of income and the funded status and amounts recognized in the

consolidated staternents of financial position,

2019
Present Value
of Defined Net Accrued
Benefic Fair Value of  Retirement
_— o Obiigations  Plan Assets Benefits
Beginning balanges P31,753,633 P-  B31,753,633
Net retirement benefits costs recognized in
the consolidated statement of income:
Current service cost 8,560,241 - 8,560,241
Net interest cost (income) 2,448,208 (38,530) 2,409,655
11,008,446 (38,5%0) 10,962,896
Benefits paid directly by the Company (345,711) - (345,711)
Remeasurement losses (gains) in other
comprehensive income - actyarial
changes arising from;
Change in financial assumptions 65,208,466 - 65,208,456
Change in demographie assumptions 21,720,480 - 21,720,480
Experience adjustments ) 38T, 750 33,343 421,093
) 87,316,696 ) 33,343 87,350,039
Contributions ) - (1.000,D00) (1,000,040)
Ending balances _ £129,733,064. (#1,00%,207) B128.727,857
Changes in the present value of the defined benefits obligation are as foilows:
2018 2017
Beginning of year 3 P68.241,819 B36,118,230
Retirement benefits cost in profit or lnss:
Cuorrent service cost 7,799,917 26,501,434
Interest cost on defined benefits obligation 3,896,507 2,912,538
Past service cost 6,290,875 -
17,987,369 29415972
Remeasurement losses (gains) in other
comprehensive income - actuarial changes
arising from;
Experience adjustments 1,505,709 (9,120,777
Change in financial assumptions (18,003,240 (8,171,606)
Changes in demographic assumptions (43,888,054 =
(54,475,58%) (17,292.383)
End of year £31,753,633 P68,241,819

The retirement benefits liabilities recognized as part af “Other noncurrent liabilities™ in the consolidated
statements of financial position amounted to B128.7 million and 23 1.8 million as of December 31,2019

and 2018, respectively,

The fair value of the plan assets amounting to B1.0 million is somprised of financial assets measured

at fair value through profit or loss.
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The principal assumptions used in determining retirement benefits cost as of January 1 follow:

- = = 2019 2018 2017
Discount rate 5.54% 771% 5.19%
Salary increase rate 10.00% 8.00% 10.00%
Average future working years of service 27 27 23

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based an reasonably possible changes of each
significant assumption on the defined benefit obligation as of the end of the reporting period, assuming
ail other assumptions were held constant:

. o 2019 2018

Discount rate +0.5% (®1 1,294,255) +0.5% (£1,834,203)
-0.5% 12,809,895 -0.5% 1,990,018

Future salary {ncrease rate +1.0% 25,738,007 +1.0% 4,126,958
-1.0%  (20,936,014) -1.0% (3,540,995

Shown below is the marurity analysis of the undiscounted benefit payments;

2019 2018
Less than 1 year #4,493,280 P2,974.126
More than 1 year up to 5 vears B,0627,125 5,041,772
More than 5 years up to 10 years 70,174,558 38,027,368
24. Income Taxes - ) o -
a. Details of the Group’s provision for current income tax follow:
) 2019 2018 2017
RCIT ¥244,411,922  B187,974,412 159,206,559
Final 20,567,770 6,917,525 5,809,906
Adjustment in the current period
for income tax of prior period - 4,905,338 -
MCIT - 3.393 488 5,082,103

264,979,692 B203,190,763 P170,098,570

—_ — -

8. The Group's recognized net deferred income tax assets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 foilow:

2019 2018
Deferred income taxes directly recognized in
profit or loss:
Deferred income tax assets on
Difference between ROU and lzase liability P57,626,231 B
Retirement benefits liability 37,095,531 47,903,186
Advance rentals 37,586,711 29.917,284
Accrued expenses 23,018,162 19,266,514
Allowance for estimated credit losses 19,065,427 26,59].,201
Farward)
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- 2019 2018
Accrued rent expense P P60,835,020
Difference between tax basis and book basis
of accounting for real estate transactions - 6,723,876
o Excess MCIT = 6,633,844
) ) 204,392,062 197,871,025
Deferred income tax liabilities on: T
Capitalized borrowing cost {100,465,797) (57,938,262)
Deferred rental income (71,986,748) (40,884,359)
Difference betwesn tax basis and book basis
of aceounting for real estate transactions {44,161,882) (14.130,450)
Day | gain on security deposits (13,200,242) {4,119,443)
Unamortized portion of debt issus cost {5,604,212) {7.382,966)
Others (6,610,084) (1,442,014)
(242,024,965) _ (125,897,494)
(37,632,903) 71,973,531
Deferred income tax liability on gains arising from
changes in actuarizl assumptions ditrectly
___recognized in equity (13,943,887) (38,377,096)
(P53,576,790) B33,596,435

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Group has not recognized deferred income tax assets on
the carryforward benefits of NOLCO and ¢excess MCIT totaling te 0.7 million and RR6.2 million,
respectively, based on the assessment that sufficient faxable profit will not be available to aliow the
deferred income tax assets to be utilized.

Deferred income tax assets and Jiabjlities reflected in the consolidated balance sheets are as follows:

- 20149 2018
Deferred income tax assets - net 0,603,651 P33,596,435
Deferred incormne tax liabiiilies - net (63,180,441) i
B i (¥53,576,790) (P33,596,433)
Details of the Group’s NOLCO follow:
Balance as of
Year December 31,  Avajlable
Inetirred Amount Additions Applied 2019 Uniil
2314 P85227.716 [ {P85,227,716) 2019
2z 734 302 - ~ 734 302 2020
BE5 062,018 - (B35,227,716) B734,302 —
Details of the Group’s excess MCIT Follow:
Balance as of
Year Additions/ December 31,  Available
incurred Amount {Expiration) Applied 2019 Until
2016 BGus5 414 (F905,414) f - 2019
117 3,240,336 - (3,240,336} -~ 2020
2018 y 3,393 488 — (3,393 48R°) - 2021
_ P7,629238 (B995.414) (¥6,633,844) B )
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d. A reconciliation of the provision for income tax at the applicable statutory income tax rate to (he
provision for income tax as shown in the consolidated statements of income follows:

2018 2017
(As Restared, {As Restated,
N o 2019 Note 2) Note )
Provision for income tax at the stamrtory )
income tax rate B401,951,967 R204,427,348 B162,280,770
Adjustments for:
Application of NOLCO for which no
deferred income tax asset was
recognized in prior years (25,568,315) (32,03 3,621)  (36,082,739)
Nondeductible expenses 10,679,433 7,121,365 6,019,407

Interest income subjected to final tax (8,929,841) (3.981,391)  (2,615,076)
Deductibie temporary differences,

NOLCO and excess MCIT for

which no deferred income tax

assets were recognized 224,685 13,679,206 33,539,085
Adjustment in the current period for

income tax of prior period e 4,505,338 -
Impact of adoption of PERS 15 and

PFRS 9 ~  2,425,152) -

Expiration of NOLCO and excess
MCIT for which deferred income
tax asseis were recognized in

_ prior Vears - - 1,080,937
Provision for income tax ___ F373,357,929 P 89,693,593 Pl 64,222,379
25, Equity o N
Capital Stock

Details of the Parent Company’s capital stock as of December 31 » 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

Number of Shares

Authorized capital stock at P] par value

Beginning and enq__o_f year ) E,O{IU,DI]U,D(_IU
Issued and outstanding capital stock at R1 par value

Issued capital stock 5,723,017,872
Treasury shares (10,000}
Ouistanding capital stock ~5,723,007,872 _

On May 12, 1988, the Philippine SEC approved the registration and licensing of the 30.0 biilion
authorized capital stock of the Parent Company with a total par value of B300.0 million divided into
18 billion Class “A™ shares with par value of £0.0] per share and 12.0 billion Class “B" shares with
par value of B0O.01 per share. The Parent Company’s management does not have the necessary
information on the issue/offer price of these shares. On May 12, 1988, the Philippine SEC issued a
certificate of permit to offer securities for sale to the Parent Company authorizing the sale of the
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B300.0 million warth of shares of the latter and issuance of certificates of stock for the shares already
subscribed and paid for,

On February 21, 1994, the Philippine SEC approved the increase in the authorized capital stock of the
Parent Company from B300.0 million to B1.G billion divided into 60.0 billion Class “A” shares with
par value of 80,01 per share and 40.0 billjon Class “B” shares with par value of P0.01 per share.

The Parent Company’s management does not have the necessary information on the issue/offer price
of these shares, On March 11, 1994, the Philippine SEC issued a certificate of permit to offer securities
for sale to the Parent Company authorizing the sale of the lafter's shargs,

On June 25, 1996, by majority vote of the BOD and stockholder representing at least two-thirds votes
of the outstanding capita! stock, an amendment an the articles of incorporation of the Parent Company
was adopted. The amendment among others inchides the changing of the par value of the authorized
capital stock of the Parent Company from 20.01 per share to P1.00 per share, The amendment was
approved by the Philippine SEC on August 12, 1997,

In the stockholders meeting held on January {4, 2003, a quasi re-arganization was approved which
includes a reduction in the authorized capital stock of the Parent Company from B1,080.0 million to
#73.8 million and subsequently, an increase in the autherized capital siock of the Parent Company,
after decrease is effected, to #5,000.0 million divided into 5,000.0 million shares having a par value of
#1.00 per share.

On Cctober &, 2003, the Philippine SEC approved the decrease in the total authorized capital stock of
the Parent Company from £1,000.0 millior to 273.8 miilion consisting of 73.8 million shares with par
value of 1.00 per share. On the same day, the Philippine SEC approved the increase in the tota)
authorized capital stock of the Parent Company from #73.8 million te ®5,000.0 million consisting of
3,000.0 million shares with par value of B1.0Q per share, Satumn subscribed to 21,231.6 million out of
the #4,526.2 millicn increase in the authorized capital stock.

On March 2, 20135, the Parent Company's BOD approved the increase in jts authorized capital stock
from B5,000.0 millien divided into 5,000.0 million common shares with a par value of B1.00 per share
to P8,000.0 millior divided into 8,000,0 millior common shares with a par value of B1.00 per share.
On September 28, 20185, the Parent Company filed an applicetion with the Philippine SEC ta increase
its authorized capital stock which was subsequently approved by ihe Philippine SEC on September 30,
2015, OQut of the increase of 3,000.0 million common shares, 419 million common shares and 331
millian common shares have been subscribed by Paramount and Saturn, respectively, at a subscription
price of #2.72 per share (see Note 1),

The issued and outstanding registered shares are held by 1,667 and 1,666 stockholders as of
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Asset-for-Share Swap

On October 6, 2009, the Parent Company’s BOD approved the acquisition of an approximately
12-hectare property, with an appraised value of 23,953.2 million, owned by Paramount where the
Eton Centris projects are situated in exchange for the issuance of 1.6 biltion shares tg Paramount at
P2.50 per share, On October 22, 2009, the Parent Company and Paramount executed a Deed of
Conveyance pertaining to the asset-for-share swap. In 2011, the property and the deposit for future
stock subscription were adjusted by the Parent Company to reflect the amount equal to 84.0 billion as
approved by Philippine SEC. Accordingly, the Parent Company reclassified the deposit for future stock
subscription into subscribed capital stock and additional paid-in capital amounting to 1.6 billicn and
P2.4 billion, respectively. The subseribed capital stock was issued as of December 3 1, 2012,
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In 2012, subscription receivable from Paramount amounting to #573.7 million was collected,
The corresponding subscribed shares were issued as of December 31, 2012,

Retained Earnings

The retained earnings are restricted for payment of dividends to the extent of the amount of treagyry
shares amounting to 7,955. Portion of the retained earnings pertzining to undistributed earnings of
subsidiaries amounting to #376.4 million and BI75.2 million as of Decembey 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively, and unrealized items amounting to BL75.% million and B159.7 million as of
December 31,2019 and 2018, respectively, are not available for dividend declaration.

26. Basic/Diluted Earnings Per Share i ——

Basic/diluted earnings per share were calculated as follows:

_ . 2019 2018 2017
Mst income P900,383,799  B491,732 566 R376,713,521
Divided by weighted average

number of common shares 5,723,007,872 5,723,007.872 5,723.007,872
Basic/diluted earnings per share PO.1573 B0.0859 P0.0658

In 2019, 2018, and 2017, there are no potential dilutive common shares, thus, basic and diluted garnings
per share are the same.

27 Leasocs

The Group as lessor

The Group entered info lease agreements with third parties covering its invesiment preperty portfolio.
These leases generally provide for ejther {a) fixed monthly rent, or (b) minimum rent or a certain
percentage of gross tevenue, whichever is higher. The Group records rental income on a straight-line
basis over the lease term and 2 certain percentage of gross revenue of tenants, as applicable, on a non-
cancellable lease term. The Group recognized varisble rental income amounting to ®20.5 million,
£19.4 million and B13.9 million in 2019, 201§ and 2017, respectively.

Future minimum rentals receivables under non-cancellable operating leases as of December 31 foliow:

2019 2018
Within one year P1,381,387,862 B1,124,513,355
After one year but not more than five years 3,350,919,496 1,698,825 677
More than five years ) 73,412,854 146,461,175

P4,805,720,212 #2,969,800,207

The Group as lessee . .
1. The Group entered into a remewable cancellable isase agreement with PNB, which generally
provides for a fixed monthly rent for the Group’s office spaces (see Note 17).
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ii. The Parent Company also entered into various lease agreements as follows:

a. Lease agreements with third parties for the lease of parcels of land in Ortigas Avenue, Quezon
City where one of the Parent Company’s projects is located. The leage agreement shall be for
the period 0f 20 years which commenced on | anuary 1, 2011 renewable for another 20 years at

the option of the lessee, the Parent Compeny, with |ease payment subject to 5% =3calation
annually,

b. Lease agreement for the icase of parcels of land in San Juan City where one of the
Parent Company’s projecis is located. The lease agreement shall be for the peried of 15 years
commencing on June 1, 2017 renewable at the opticn of the lessor with lease payment subject

to 5% escalation annually,

The rollforward analysis of the right-of-use assets (ROU) account foliows:

ROU; Leasehold

ROU: Land Improvements Total

Lost
At January 1, 2019 (as restated, see

Note 2) B P238,436,760 P63,495,609 P298,933,359
Accumulated Amortization
At Janwary |, 2019 = S =
Amortization (Note 20) N 10,434,471 15,239 186 25,675,657
At December 31 2019 10,434 471 15,239,184 15.6 73,657
Net Book Values __ B225002 289 B48,257.423 B273,259,712

The following are tha amounts recognized in consolidated statement of incoms for the year ended
December 31, 2010:

Interest expense on lease Jiabilities (see Note 18) B42.116,703
Amortization expense of right-of-use assets 25,672,657
B67,790,360

The rollforward analysis of iesse liabilities as at and for the year ended December 31, 2012 follows:

_ i 2019
At January 1, 2019 (as restated, sce Note 2) B501,716,769
Additions -
Interest expense (see Note 18) 42,116,703

Rental payments/payable
At December 31, 2019 -

(45,152,990)
498,680,482

The Group has lease contracts that include extension and termination options. These options are
negotiated by management to provide flexibility in managing the leased-asset portfalic and align with
the Group's business needs. Management exercises significant judgement in determining whether these
extension and termination options are reasonably certain to be exeteised (see Note 2),
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Shown below is the maturity analysis of the undiscounted lease payments:

—a S o 2019

| yeur P45,152,990
More than 1 year to 2 years 112,427,427
More than 2 years to 3 years 67.483,076
More than 3 years to 4 years 71,102,306
More than 5 yaars 1,373,506,006

28. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments are cash and cash equivalents, payables to Jandowners and
loans payable. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to finance the Group’s operations,
The Group has variovs financial assets and financial liabilities such as trade and other receivables,
refundable deposits, trade and other payables and security deposits, which arise directly from its
operations,

It is the Group’s policy that no trading of financial instruments shell be undertaken, Management
closely monitors the cash fund and financial transactions of the Group. Cash funds are normally
deposited with banks consideted as related parties, and financial transactions are hormally dealt with
related parties. These strategies, ta an extent, mitigats the Group’s interest rate and credit risks.

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and foreign currency risks arise in the normal course of the
Group®s business activities. The main objectives of the Group’s financial risk management are;
(2) to identify and menitor such risks on an ongoing basis, (b) to minimize and mitigate such risks, and
(¢) to provide a degree of certainty about costs.

The BOD reviews and approves the policies for managing these risks which are described below.

Credit visk

Credit risk is the risk that the Group will incur a loss because jts counterparties failed to discharge their
contractuzl obligations. The Group’s credit risks are primarily attributable to cash in banks and cash
equivalents, contracts receivables and other financial assets.

Creditrisk is managed primarily through analysis of receivables on a cantinuous basis. In addition, the
credit risk for contracts receivables is mitigated as the Group has the right to cancel the sales contract
without the risk for any court action and can take possession of the subject properly in case of refisal
by the buyer to pay on time the contracts receivables due. This risk is further mitigated because the
corresponding title to the property sold under this arrangement is transferred to the buyers only upon
full payment of the contract prics.

The carrying amount of cash in banks and cash equivalenis, trade and other receivables, and refundable
depesits represent the Group’s maximum exposure to eredit rigk,
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As of December 31, 2019 and 20; 8, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk for the components
of the consolidated staterments of finaneial position follows:

_ 2019 2018
Financial assets at amortized cost

Cash in banks and cash equivalents $2,320,454,688 B2.640,448 3142
Trade and other recejvables:
Contracts receivables 898,385,608 1,071,334,642
Receivabie from buyers 462,812,333 454,019,067
[ease receivables 21,088,638 45,816,320
Receivable from tenants 11,404,683 41,566,610
Others* 261,644,925 151,174,921
Refunpdahle deposits 165,081,522 176,264,142

- _ P4,140,872,394  P4,580,624,044
*Exchiding advamces v officers and gimployses amovnimg to @90 mifiion and BI0.7 miftion as of December 21 2049

and 018, rasprctively,

Set out belaw is the information about the credit risk ¢xposure on the Group’s financial assets using a
provision matrix,

As ef December 31, 20{9-

Trade and other recelvables

Cegh in banks Dui\.s nast dite
and cash  Refundamle
] ___Equivalents  deposits Curtenl <30 days 3060 days  &1-B0 days > 5] days Totals

Expected oredil OI3%-  0.03%-  013%-  0.13%. S.00% -

Ins5 rale -% 5 4R% 8200% 78.94% 38.00% G3.06% 47.00%
Estimeted total

ETUES CaArTying

amaount al

defoult  P2,326.4%4.688 P131,263.814 P333.613 040 PI8.777 B30 A47.765.653 P1O.153.300 P1B0,484,064 3,067,532 28y
Expected credii

loss 95.4?5.2“;_'?_'?_&)04 RL7FTAI4 P2299.02) R] 240066 Ri].37,178 ’Pﬁ.’!aﬁ_ﬂg_im.?fj_

As of December 31, 2018:

Trade and other receivables

Cash in banks Drays past due
afd cash  Refundable —
Gauivalents dwpesits Current = days 3060 davs  £1.8) davs = &l days Totals
Expecled credit 0.01%- 0.03% - 0 09% - 0.90% - 433% .
fats rate -5 J3.51% £.0T% 1 5094 22 9484 27575 49.01%
Estimazed tota?
EIDSE cAMYing
&Mt 8t
detaylt B2 H40 448 14 P170.287. 640 $732 051 533 B67 680 624 B3 419 449 Ry F210, 160 E204 348 457 PR3, 865 366 230
xpecied oredl
g f;ii " B PS5 9T6 502 PlL240 774 & 123 740 P1412377 PE.M,QE_I B75 938 073 f_’EE 637337
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Movement of the allowance for expected credit losses in 2019 and 2018 follow:

- = - gy 20190 2018
Beginning balances B83,637,337 43,157,975
Provision for the yaar 11,015,308 45,479,362
Reversals for the year (36,047,521) -

Ending balances P63,605,124 P88,537337

The Group is not exposed to concentration risk because it has & diverse base of counterparties.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is defined as risk that the Group would not be able to settls or meet its obligations on
time. The Group maintains sufficient cash in order Lo fund its operations.

In mitigating liguidity risk, management measures and forecasts its cash cominitments, matches dein
taturities with the assets being financed, maintains a diversity of funding sources with its unhampered
aceesy to bank financing and the capital markets and develops viable funding alternatives through its
customers’ deposits arising from the Group’s pre-selling activities,

The tabies below show the maturity profile of the Gmup’s other financial liabitities (undiscounted
amounts of principal and related interest) as well as the undiscounted cash fiows from financial assets
used for liquidity management.

As of December 31, 2019;
Less thar
On demand 1 year 1-5 vegrs Tot]
Financlal liahikities:
Trade and other payables:
ACCOUNTS payrbles® P~ PLI161,23,%33 B #1,161,230,533
Retentions payable - 771,080,486 - 771,080,484
Accricd expenses - 1328,426,764 = 1,328,426,764
Loans payablc = 1,199,758 184 5,065,941,133 5,26%,699,317
Pavable to Jandowners 444,000,000 1,384 949,047 = 1,838,949,047
Security deposits ) = 120,853,181 431,849,430 352,732,671
444,000,050 5967318 104 5,497, 790,422 11,209,1 14,818
Financizl assets:
Cash and cash equivelents #816,639,952  $1,507,235,970 B E1313875023
Trade and other receivahlest® = 1.656,114,787 674,304,192 1.330,518,979
_' B316,630.952  P3163,458,737  P674,304,192 F4,654,304,90]
*Exciuding payebie jo govermmani agancies amamniing fo 2.0 mifiion, o
**Exciuding advameas ty officers and emplayvees cmayming to BELAR wmillion.
As of December 31, 201%:
Less than
On demand 1 vear 1-3 vears Total
Finansial liabilitics:
Trade and other payables:
ACTOUNLS payables® B FRO2,154,303 - £862,154,30%

Retentions payahle = TA6,279.5M - T46,279 574
Accried expenses - I56%,033,027 - 1,569,033,027
Loans payable - 737.816,725 6,482,781,27% 7,220,600,000
Payable to landowners 44,000,000 171,452,237 1,269,423 159 1,884,874 305

Security deposits ) - 241,887 848 264,123 308 506,007,156
P444,000,000  P4,328,619716 #3,010,329,742  ¥12,786,949 458

NDARURRT RO S



- 56 .

Less than
- — — Ondemand 1 year _1-5yearg Tara)
Finuncial assas: o -
Cash and cash equivalents B5T5,579,055 P1,9%66.964,015 B~ B26842 543070
Trade and other receivableg** 625938526 843,255 159 294 717 675 1,763.911,560

) - __PLIOLSITSEI  #2810219374 o4, 717675 £4,406,454,830
“Exeluding pavasls to gevernment RETHINCIEE S alntimg 10 B2 D mififum, :
* Eeclicing odwonces 1o aftcars aad empdapees antounting 1a B D miffecer.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk on volatility of eamings or capital arising from changes in foreign
exchange rates, mainly US Dollar to Peso exchange rate, The Group's exposure o foreign currency
risk arises from LS Dollar-denominated cash and cash equivalen

4

The following table shows the Group's ¢cash and cash equivalents denominated in US dollar and their
peso equivalents as of December 31, 2019 and 201 8.

- US Dollar Value ___Peso Equivalent
2019 $1,853,227 93,347 415
2018 $1,289,737 B73,266,929

The exchange rate used as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 were 50,64 to US$1.00 and B52.72 1o
USS1.00, respectively. The Group recognized net foreign exchange loss amounting to B2.23 million
in 2019 and net foreign exchange gain amounting to #4.76 milllion in 2018,

The table below represents the impact on the Group’s income befors income tax as a result of a
reasonably possible change in US Daollar to Peso exchange rate with all other variables held constant
as of December 31, 2019 and 2018. There is no impact on the Group’s equity other than those already
affecting the consolidated statements of income,

Change in Dollar Effect on Income

B _ Foreign Exchange Rate  before Income Tax
2019 {3.95%) (#3,744,630)
3.95% 3,744,630

2018 2.05% 1,935,606
(2.65%) (1,935,606}

Fait Value [nformation

Presented below is the comparison of the carrying values and fair values of the Group's financial assets
and liabilities that are presented in the consolidated statements of financial position as of
December 31, 2019 and 2018,

o 2019 _ 014 -
- Carrying Value Fair Value  Carrving Value _Fair Value
Financial Asseis
{Cash on hand P1,421,234 B3,421334 F1.004 728 F2,004 728
Loans end reccivables:
Cash in banks and cash squivalenis 4,320,454,688 2,320,434,693 2,640,448 342 2,640,448 342
Contracts receivables B11.568,248 821,568,241 934,517,275 924 517,245
Lease recelvables 16,527,521 16,927,521 41,255,206 41,295,206
Recelvables from buyers 461,812,332 462,812332 454 019,067 454,019,067
Receivables from tenants 10,132,329 14,122,339 4(,284,258 40 384,256
Others® 261,644,925 261,644,025 151,174,921 151,174,921
Refundsble deposits** - 159,606,241 159,606,281 170,287 640 1,287,640

N.DSG.IST.SS_I_ B4,056,157 851 #4404 081 434 P4 194 081,435
* Etcludding pdtvaness ta officers and emplayeas astounting io RG.7 million cod Ri0.2 Mo ok of December 37, 2019 and 2018, raspectively.

% Presented as part af "OWar Bomcukrent aises " Greoii
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012 2018
. = Carrying Yaluc Fair Value Carrying Value Feir Value
Financial Liabilities - B
Cther finencial lighilitjes:
Trade and other payables:

" Accounts payable® ELI61,230,833 @1, 161,230,533 B862,154,305 PEG2, 154,015
Retentions paynble 771.080,484 71,080,484 746,279,574 746,279,574
Accrued expenses 1,329,426,764 1,329,425 764 1,369,033,027 1,569,033 027

Loans payabie 6,265,6599,317 4,782,790,048 7,190,965,146 5.867.197,270
Payables to landowners 1,428,949,047 1,528.94%,047 884,875,306 LBY7.555,10
Segurity depositg** 566,671,575 360,671,576 320085 206 SOR007 156

i PLF917,057,721 #10,834,145,444 B 2,773,392,854 PRI A28,226,433
* Excleding payadle fo government ABECIAR hmoarig fo P20 muflion oed P29 million gz of Decamber 4] o JOID ahdd 2018 respacrively.

** Presanivd 25 pavt of *Diapagtit ang oir Habulltlar™ and "Oher mancusrent flabiifiat ™ aorounrs.

The following methods and assumptions are used to estimars the fajy vaiue of cach class of financial
and non-financial instruments:

Cash and cash equivaients, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and other
payables, approximate their fair values due to the short-term nature of these financial instruments. The
noncurrent portion of trade receivables is interest-bearing with interest rates that approximate market
interest rates as of December 33 » 2019 and 2018,

Refundobie deposite

The carrying value of deposits is the best estimate of its fair value since the related contracts and
agreements pertaining to these deposits have indeterminable terms,

Loans payable, payables ta landowners gnd Fecurity deposits

The fair values of feans payable, payables to landowners and security deposits are estimated using the
discounted cash flow method based on the discounted valus of future cash flows using the applicabie
risk-free rates for similar types of instruments, The discount rates used range from 3.43% to 6.00%
and 2.36% to 4.73% as of December 3 I, 201% and 2018, respectively. Management has determined
the inputs to be Lavel 3,

The Group uses the following hiererchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of the financial
instruments by valuation technigue:

* quoted prices in active markets for identical assets (Level 1);

v those invalving inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asser,
either directly {as prices) or indirectly (detived from prices) (Level 2); and,

* those inputs for the asset that are not based on observable market datg {unobservable inputs)
{Level 3). '

In 2019 and 2018, there were no transfers between Levels | and 2 fajr valye measurements, and no
transters into and out of Leve] 3 measurements,

25.

Capital Management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit
rating, complies with externally imposed capital requirements and maintain healthy capital ratios in
order to support its business and maximize stockholdar value.
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The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to i,
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
stockhoiders, return capital to stockholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the

objectives, policies or processes for the years ended December 31 » 2019 and 2018. Accordingly, the
Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

in light of changes in economic

The table below summarizes the total capita} considered by the Group:

2019 2018
Capital stock #5,723,017,872 B3, 723,017,872
Additional paid-in capital 8,206,662,618 8,206,662,618
Retained eamings 3.877,323,738 2,976,939 930
Treasury shares (7,955) (7,955}

- ) F17,806,996,273 P16,506,612,474_

34. Registration wiaPhilippine-Emnnmlc Zone Authority (PEZA)

The Group®s projects namely, Eton Cyberpod Corinthian and Eton Centris, were registered with PEZA
on August 27, 2008 and September 19, 2008, respectively, as non-pioneer “scozone developer/
operator”. The locations are created and designated as Information Technology Park.

31. Con tingencies

The Group has various contingent liabilities from legal cases arising from the normal course of business
which are currently being contested by the Group. The cutcomes of these cases are not cunrently
determinable. Management and its legal counse! believe that the eventyal liabitity from these tegal
cases, if any, will not have a material effect on the consolidated financizl statements,

32. Notes to Cansolidated Statements of Cash Flows
The principal non-cash investing and financing activities of the Group follow:

* In 2019, 2018 and 2017, the Group reclassified real estate mventory amounting to nil,
#282.9 million and B536.7 million, respectively, to investment properties (see Notes 7 and 9),

* In 2019 and 2018, the Group reclassified costs of condominium units and furniture, fixtures and
equipment totaling to nif and 816.4 million to property and equipment {sec Notes 9 and 10},

* Borrowing costs capitalized as cost of investment properties and real estate inventory in 2018 and
2018 amounted fo 153.0 million and 8134.9 million, respeetively (see Notes 7 and 9),

¢ Non-cash financing activity of the Group pertains to the amortization of transaction costs
amounting to B7.0 million in 2019, 89,1 million in 2018 and #2.2 million in 20]7 (see Note 14),
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Reconciliation of the movements of liabilities arising from financing activities are as follows:

As of December 31, 2019:

Loans payakle

Payables tg Leage

Beginning balances
Cash movements:
Availment of an additionat loan
Cash scttlements during the year
Payment of principal portien of lease
liabilities
Fayment of transagtion costs
Non-cash movement:
Amortization of transaction coges
Agcretion of interest
Unpaid pertion of Jease Jighilities

(332, 300,000)

B7,190,955,346 B1,884,875,395

Yandowners

£85.926,349) -

llabllltiag Total
#301,716,76% B, 5TTE57,811

(548,226,349)

- = (43801,766)  (43.801.766)
7,033,971 = N 7,033,971
- = 42,116,703 41,116,703

- 1,381,224) 1,351,224)

End ing balancess

P6.265.699.317 ¥1,828,949,047

£498,68(,482  B8,593,328,846

As of December 31, 2018:

Loans payable

Payables ko
landowhers Total

Begmning balances
Cash mevements:

R6,080,146,174

#1,937,568,320 #8,017,714,494

Availment of an additional [cap 1,500,000,000 - 1, 500,000,000

Cash settlements during the year (387,047,05%) (52,692,924) {439,739,083)

Payment of transaction costs {11,250,000) - (11,250,000
MNon-cash movernent:

Amortization of transaction eosts _ 9.115,231 - 9,116,231
Ending balances ) Py, lgﬂlgﬂjd-& B1,BB4,875 396 £0,075,840,742
As of December 31, 2017

FPayables to
Loans pavable: landowners Teatal

Beginning balances F6,558,459,020  $3,762,841,668 ®10,321,300,8%0
Cash movements;
Availment of an edditiona) loan 2,490,000 - 2,450,000
Cash settlements during the vear (470,588,235) {1,825,273,348) (2,295,861,583)
Payment of transaction costs {(12,450,000) = (12,450,000
Non-cash movement:
Amortization of rahsaction costs 2,235,187 = 2,235,187
Ending balances RG,080,146,174 _ P1,937,568320  #8,017,714,454

LT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors
Eton Properties Philippines, Inc.

8/F Allied Bank Center, 6754 Avala Avenue
Makati City, Metro Manila, Philippines

We have audited the accompanying consolidated finansial statements of Eton Properties Phitippines, Inc.,
and Subsidiaries as at December 31, 2019 and for the year then ended, on which we have rendered the
aftached report dated February 17, 2020.

In compliance with Revised Securities Regulation Code Rule 68, we are stating that the above Company
has 1,433 stockholders owning one hundred (100) or more shares each.

SYCIP GORRES VELAYC & CO.

W‘ 4
artin C. Guanies
Pariner
CPA Certificate No, 88494
SEC Accreditation No. 0325-AR-4 (Group A),
August 23, 2018, valid until August 22, 2021
Tax Identification No, 152-§84-272
BIR Accreditation No, 08-001998-52-2018,
February 26, 2018, valid until February 25, 2021
PTR No. 8125242, January 7, 2020, Makati City

Febroary 17, 2628
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
ON THE SCHEDULE OF RECONCILIATION OF RETAINED EARNINGS
AVAILABLE FOR DIVIDEND DECLARATION

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors
tion Properties Philippines, Inc,

8/F Allied Bank Center, 6754 Ayaln Avonue
Makat{ City, Metro Manila, Philippines

We have audited in accordance with Philippine Standards on Audiling, the consolidated financial
statements of Efon Properties Philippines, Inc. and Subsidiaries as at December 31,2019 and 2018, and
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019, included in this Form I7-A, and have
issued our report thereon dated February 17, 2020, Cut audits were made for the purpese of forming an
opinion on the basic financial staternents taken as a whole. The accompanying Schedule of
Reconciltation of Retained Earnings Available for Dividend Declaration is the responsibility of the
Company’s management. This schedule is presented for purposes of complying with the Revised
Securities Regulation Code Rule 68, and is not part of the basic financial staternents. This schedule has
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the andit of the basic financial statements and, in our
opinion, fairly state, in all material respects, the financial information required to be set forth therein in
relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO.

Partner

CPA Certificate No., 88404

SEC Acoreditation No. 0325-AR-4 (Group A),
Aungust 23, 2018, valid until August 22, 2021

Tax Identification No. 152-884-272

BIR Accreditation Mo, 08-001998-52-2018,
February 26, 2018, valid until February 23, 2021

PTR No. 8125242, January 7, 2020, Makati City

February 17, 2029
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ETON PROPERTIES PHILIPPINES, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES

SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF RETAINED EARNINGS

AVAILABLE FOR DIVIDEND DECLARATION
DECEMBER 31, 2019

Retained earnings as at December 31 L2018
Less: Adjustrnents due to adoption of PFRS 16

P3,119,036,654
116,075,290

Retained earnings available for dividend declaration as at December
31,2018
Add: Net income actually earned/realized during the period

Net income during the period closed to Retained Earnings 604 296 942

Less: Non-actual/unrealized income net of tax

Equity in net income of associate/joint venture

Unrealized forcign exchange pain - net (except those
sttributable to cash and cash equivalents)

Unrealized actuarial gain

Fair vaiue adjustment (M2M gains)

Fair value adjustment of invesiment property
resuiting to gain

Adjustment due to deviation from PFRS/GAAP - gain

Movement of deferred income tax assets 15,556,269

Other unrealized gains or adjnstments to the retajnad
earnings as a result of certain fransactions accounted
for under the PFRS

Add: Non-actugal josses

Depreciation on revaluation increment (afier tax)

Movement of deferred income tax assets

Adjustment due to deviation from PFRS/GAAP - Joss

Loss on fair value adjustment of investment
property (after tax)

3,002,962,364

RETAINED EARNINGS AVAILABLE FOR DIVIDEND
DECLARATION AS AT DECEMBER 31, 20 19

$3,681,702,037




